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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Good morning.

          3  Let me introduce myself. My name is Councilman Steve

          4  DiBrienza, I chair the Committee on General Welfare,

          5  and in a few moments we will be joined by Council

          6  Member Ronnie Eldridge, who chairs the Committee on

          7  Women's Issues. We are doing this hearing as a joint

          8  hearing today, and we are looking at the

          9  Administration's plan for child care funding and

         10  service delivery.

         11                 By way of just introduction, the

         12  hearing was originally scheduled for 10:00, so

         13  anyone that has been sitting here since 10:00, let

         14  me point out that we had to change it to 10:45, we

         15  then tried to notice as many people as we could. But

         16  if you have been here since 10:00, I hope it was

         17  warm and comfortable, albeit it a little boring and

         18  I apologize for that.

         19                 10:45, as you may know, came and went

         20  because Council Member Eldridge and I were returning

         21  from a very important, yet somewhat called on an

         22  emergency basis, type event, and that was a press

         23  conference with numerous members of the community of

         24  advocates, to fight for domestic violence, and

         25  assist domestic violence victims, because you may
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          2  have read recently some of the Commissioner's,

          3  Commissioner Turner's remarks at a recent forum up

          4  in Albany where he sort of suggested that victims of

          5  domestic violence, we should be on the lookout for

          6  those who fake claims of domestic violence in order

          7  to obtain benefits, that's almost a direct quote, as

          8  shocking and as dismaying as it may be. So a group

          9  of folks spoke out about how outrageous that was.

         10                 In any event, with apologies, it is

         11  now 11:00 and we are ready to begin.

         12                 Council Member Eldridge, as I

         13  indicated, chairs the Committee on Women's Issues, I

         14  chair the Committee on General Welfare.

         15                 We are joined by very active and

         16  dedicated members of the Committees and Council, of

         17  course, and that includes Council Member Bill

         18  Perkins from Manhattan, Council Member Margarita

         19  Lopez from Manhattan, lower east side, Council

         20  Member Guillermo Linares, Council Member Martin

         21  Malave-Dilan. I am joined, as I indicated I would

         22  be, by the Chair of the Women's Committee, Council

         23  Member Ronnie Eldridge, Council Member Madeline

         24  Provenzano, and before we are done, we expect to be

         25  joined by all of the members of the Committee. There
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          2  are several events that go on at the same time,

          3  people have to sometimes be apart, leave and come

          4  back, but before we are done we hope to be joined by

          5  the balance of the Committee, Council Member

          6  Watkins, Henry, Rodriguez and Abel, and additional

          7  members of the Committee on Women's Issues as well.

          8                 Perhaps to catch up a little bit on

          9  time we will forego any real serious lengthy opening

         10  statement. The idea was to bring together a host of

         11  advocates, practitioners, providers and the like,

         12  folks who deal with day care questions all of the

         13  time, have them talk a little bit about some of the

         14  needs that are out there, some of the access issues,

         15  and the overall concern of the split between ACD and

         16  the day care that they provide and OES and the day

         17  care that they provide, of course probably why the

         18  two of us put together the joint hearing. So, that's

         19  what we will do.

         20                 I will turn to my colleague and

         21  co-chair if there is any additional comment, and

         22  then we will call the witnesses and begin to make up

         23  for this short loss of time.

         24                 Council member.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you. I

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            6

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  hope that at this hearing we may get some

          3  information. It is very frustrating for both of our

          4  committees with our inability to really learn what

          5  OES is doing or what ACD is doing. When ACD was

          6  divided and part of the responsibilities for child

          7  care stayed in HRA and some of it went to ACS, many

          8  people were wary of that. As the Workfare Program

          9  increases in intensity and women with children are,

         10  more and more of them are being called, the question

         11  is, are we adding additional child care slots or are

         12  we putting welfare recipients to work and their

         13  children in child care at the expense of working

         14  poor people who need subsidized care. So, we hope to

         15  find that out. Also, where are we expanding child

         16  care, and is it supervised child care or not, and

         17  what is the quality of it?

         18                 So, we hope we will be able to shed

         19  some more information on this extremely complicated

         20  subject to begin with, but it is getting more and

         21  more I think confusing as the days go by.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         24  Council member.

         25                 Okay, so our first group of witnesses
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          2  include Doug Turetsky from United Neighborhood

          3  Houses, Julia Levine, Northern Manhattan Improvement

          4  Corporation and Nancy Kolben, the Executive Director

          5  of Child Care, Inc. If the three of you will join

          6  us, and then we will follow that with, just so you

          7  are prepared, Jennifer Light, Emily Stubbs and

          8  Letisha Wadsworth. They will be the second group.

          9                 Now, anyone who has appeared before

         10  this Committee knows that all of the witnesses who

         11  appear are addressed by Counsel to be sworn. And

         12  ordinarily when it is not a General Welfare

         13  Committee, that is to say when it is a budget

         14  hearing or a joint hearing, because that is not a

         15  universal rule we forego that. But my sense of the

         16  Chair and the members of the Women's Committee is

         17  such that I believe that they would not disagree

         18  with our policy, therefore, we will direct your

         19  attention to Counsel to the Committee first.

         20                 MS. LEVIN: Will all three of you

         21  please raise your right hand.

         22                 Do you swear that the testimony you

         23  are about to provide is the truth, the whole truth

         24  and nothing but the truth?

         25                 MR. TURETSKY: I do.
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          2                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: I do.

          3                 MS. KOLBEN: Yes.

          4                 MS. LEVIN: If each of you could just

          5  state your name and affiliation for the record.

          6                 MR. TURETSKY: My name is Doug

          7  Turetsky, and I am Director of Police and Advocacy

          8  for the United Neighborhood Houses.

          9                 MS. KOLBEN: My name is Nancy Kolben,

         10  I am the Executive Director of Child Care, Inc.

         11                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: My name is Sandra

         12  Rodriguez, and I am representing Julia Levine at

         13  Northern Manhattan Improvement Corporation.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, thank

         15  you. I think it is Doug first, then you will

         16  represent Julia Levine, and then we will finish with

         17  Nancy. So, one, two, three.

         18                 Doug, you are first.

         19                 MR. TURETSKY: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And, again, I

         21  apologize and ask everyone to be a little tighter

         22  than usual in presentations so we can make up the

         23  time.

         24                 MR. TURETSKY: I will try.

         25                 Good morning, Chairwoman Eldridge,
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          2  Chairman DiBrienza, and members of the City Council.

          3  My name is Doug Turetsky and I am presenting

          4  testimony on behalf of United Neighborhood Houses.

          5                 As you know, UNH is the umbrella

          6  federation of 38 settlement houses that benefit

          7  500,000 participants in programs ranging from child

          8  care to employment preparation to senior services at

          9  310 locations across the City.

         10                 New York has long been heralded as

         11  the City that never sleeps. Many of our restaurants,

         12  shops, hotels, factories, business services and

         13  health care facilities are open from early in the

         14  morning until late at night, and on weekends as

         15  well. Some never close, running 24 hours a day. This

         16  around-the-clock activity generates jobs, including

         17  many entry level positions for those with little

         18  work experiences or limited educational containment.

         19                 Unfortunately many of these jobs are

         20  also low-paying.

         21                 In a City where affordable child care

         22  is hard to find, the shortage may be most acute for

         23  children whose parents must work in so-called

         24  non-standard hours, early mornings, evenings, late

         25  nights or weekends. In fact, such non-standard hours
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          2  are becoming increasingly standard. As a policy

          3  brief issued last month by UNH and which was

          4  distributed to you with this testimony made clear

          5  many of the most rapidly growing occupations in the

          6  City demands a substantial amount of work in

          7  non-standard hours.

          8                 Retail sales, food service and home

          9  health care are among the occupations predicted to

         10  grow the most by the State Department of Labor in

         11  the coming years.

         12                 These very same jobs also require

         13  substantial number of employees to work non-standard

         14  hours.

         15                 For example, some 42 percent of

         16  restaurant employees work early mornings, nights or

         17  weekends, according to professional statistics.

         18  Likewise, more than one out of four people employed

         19  at health services and retail sales work some nights

         20  standard hours.

         21                 Given New York's reputation as a 24

         22  hour a day, seven day a week City, it is likely that

         23  employers demand for non-standard work hours here is

         24  even greater than national trends indicate.

         25                 It is not just services or growth
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          2  industries that require non-standard work hours. As

          3  anyone who has passed through Chinatown, Sunset Park

          4  or other of our City's garment manufacturing centers

          5  can attest, factories in these neighborhoods appear

          6  to operate nearly around the clock.

          7                 When University Settlement on the

          8  lower east side began to offer child care on

          9  Saturdays, program staff thought it would be a

         10  special service for adults who wanted to take ESL or

         11  other classes at the neighborhood center. Settlement

         12  staff quickly found the children were staying all

         13  day. The reason? Parents who formerly had no choice

         14  but to have their children spend their day on an

         15  unsafe and inappropriate garment factory floor now

         16  had an educational and developmentally sound

         17  alternative.

         18                 While two-parent families are often

         19  able to juggle work schedules to ensure that one

         20  parent is home to care for their children while the

         21  other is working, single parent families do not have

         22  that option.

         23                 New York is home to more than 370,000

         24  single parent families. Some of these are families

         25  that have just moved or are trying to move from
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          2  welfare to work. A recent survey by the City's Human

          3  Resources Administration found that more than half

          4  of the people who left public assistance for

          5  employment went into sales, services or

          6  manufacturing.

          7                 As I noted, jobs in these very same

          8  sectors require a significant amount of work during

          9  non-standard hours.

         10                 While there is ample evidence that

         11  many parents must work these hours, there appear to

         12  be little licensed, affordable and high quality

         13  child care available during these same hours.

         14                 Among the nearly 1,500 child care

         15  centers on the City's central resource and referral

         16  database, only 20 provide care during some evening

         17  or night hours. Three have weekend child care hours,

         18  and just one offers care in the 24-hour a day

         19  schedule.

         20                 Of the more than 4,150 family child

         21  care providers on the database, 50 provide care

         22  during some night or evening hours, 26 have weekend

         23  child care hours, and 16 offer care on a 24-hour

         24  schedule.

         25                 Taken together, that means there is
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          2  space toward some 70 children any time day or night.

          3  On weekends, less than 220 slots are available.

          4                 Other people here this morning will

          5  describe the overall need for child care in New

          6  York, and the gap in affordability and availability.

          7                 In terms of care during non-standard

          8  hours, the need appears to be significant and the

          9  gap very wide.

         10                 One step the City can take to begin

         11  to close this gap is to permit Agency for Child

         12  Development contracts to cover care provided during

         13  early morning, evening, night and weekend hours.

         14                 Right now ACD will only subsidize

         15  care provided between the hours of eight p.m. and

         16  six p.m. Monday through Friday. This change will not

         17  expand the total number of child care slots

         18  available, but it will at least add some flexibility

         19  based on parental needs.

         20                 The City should also develop an

         21  economic incentive and technical assistance program

         22  to encourage and enable more family and center-based

         23  child care providers to offer care during

         24  non-standard hours.

         25                 For example, in Ohio and Tennessee
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          2  providers receive higher subsidies for child care

          3  during such hours. Additionally, the City Council

          4  should pass a resolution urging the State Office of

          5  Children and Families to finalize new regulations

          6  concerning child care and welfare reform.

          7                 These regulations are almost two

          8  years late and have held up long needed reforms at

          9  ACD. There are more recommendations included in our

         10  policy brief for your consideration.

         11                 Thank you, and I would be glad to

         12  answer any questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. I

         14  think we will hear from everybody and then there may

         15  or may not be any questions. And let me just say if

         16  I made it sound like you have to rush, I apologize.

         17  Tight, but you don't have to speed.

         18                 Very good.

         19                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Good morning,

         20  everyone. My name is Sandra Rodriguez. I am

         21  Assistant to Julia Levine, the Director of Work

         22  Force Development at Northern Manhattan Improvement

         23  Corporation.

         24                 Parents in New York City's welfare to

         25  work programs are in desperate need of increased
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          2  child care services. This demand has been

          3  exacerbated by the City's recent efforts to move all

          4  TANF recipients into a simulated 35 hour work week.

          5                 Previous 20-hour WEP requirements

          6  allowed parents of school-aged children to work

          7  while their children were in school; however, with

          8  all TANF recipients now engaged in this 35-hour

          9  simulated work week, the limited supply of available

         10  providers is being strained even further.

         11                 All TANF recipients will require

         12  greatly expanded full-day child care and/or after

         13  school child care slots for their children.

         14                 The result of this change in work

         15  hours is already creating problems for parents who

         16  must find safe, structured environments for their

         17  children while they work for the benefits to support

         18  their families.

         19                 Parents in the Washington Heights

         20  Inwood Community are in particular need of child

         21  care as this neighborhood has the highest unmet need

         22  for day care in New York City.

         23                 Limited child care options,

         24  particularly during after school hours, leave these

         25  parents at a great advantage in their goal to move
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          2  off welfare.

          3                 Northern Manhattan Improvement

          4  Corporation is involved in supporting adults who are

          5  working to transition off welfare and into jobs. Our

          6  work force development center currently includes two

          7  job development programs that support mothers on

          8  public assistance in the Washington Heights Inwood

          9  Community.

         10                 Adelante-NSP Works is a U.S.

         11  Department of Labor-funded program that provides 200

         12  TANF recipients with limited English proficiency

         13  with the opportunity to increase their job readiness

         14  and language skills to move off welfare to permanent

         15  living wage jobs.

         16                 NMIC has recently launched the New

         17  York State Department of Labor Job Placement and

         18  Retention Program. This effort will provide

         19  employment services for 900 public assistance

         20  recipients in the City's Work Experience Program. By

         21  engaging participants in job search, career

         22  readiness and job placement.

         23                 One of the largest barriers for

         24  parents in finding and retaining employment is

         25  finding safe affordable child care services.
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          2                 Adelante and JPN and our staff assist

          3  participants by linking them with child care and

          4  other service providers in the community.

          5                 However, the need for quality child

          6  care is far greater than what is currently being

          7  provided, and the type of programs available need to

          8  be better tailored to meet community needs.

          9                 On September 15th, 1998, the New York

         10  Times explored the unique and formidable obstacles

         11  that Latino women face in their attempts to

         12  transition from welfare to work. In comparison to

         13  their white and African-American counterparts,

         14  Latinos have been less likely to leave welfare.

         15                 According to a comprehensive study,

         16  by State Social Service officials cited in the

         17  article, in addition to factors such as lack of

         18  education, work experience, support systems and

         19  English proficiency, subtle cultural barriers also

         20  hinder Latinos, particularly distrust of child care

         21  and low self-esteem.

         22                 The authors reported that 75 percent

         23  of Latino respondents feared their children will be

         24  mistreated in child care, compared with 45 percent

         25  of other respondents.
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          2                 With a large Latino community in

          3  Washington Heights Inwood, it is clear that an

          4  increase in child care service is greatly needed.

          5                 According to the most recently

          6  publicly available figures, New York City's agency

          7  for child development has designated Washington

          8  Heights Inwood as the community with the highest

          9  need in the City for child care.

         10                 In 1994, 15,981 children in Community

         11  District 12 met the eligibility requirements for

         12  public child care.

         13                 However, only 1,068 children received

         14  these services.

         15                 Waiting lists for child care centers

         16  are extremely long. In a telephone survey conducted

         17  by NMIC staff in December of 1998, we found that

         18  most day care centers had waiting lists of over 300.

         19  This gap in child care continues to grow. And

         20  efforts to obtain an additional ACD funded day care

         21  center in this community proved fruitless to date.

         22                 In addition to the need for new

         23  services, there is also a need to expand current

         24  services. Board of Education Programs, such as the

         25  Latchkey Program in Washington Heights Inwood, do
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          2  provide some services to school-aged youth, however,

          3  these programs are extremely limited.

          4                 The block grant of $435,000 for this

          5  program is expected to provide 29,000 youth in 19

          6  schools with after school programming.

          7                 Due to the large numbers of children

          8  and the limited funding available through this

          9  grant, the program runs only from January to June

         10  and is available only for elementary school

         11  children.

         12                 Finally, the programs do not

         13  accommodate the large numbers of parents who are

         14  employed during non-traditional hours.

         15                 Parents are also in need of more

         16  programs that provide programming during school

         17  vacations. Working parents need full-year programs.

         18                 The Board of Ed is working to find

         19  ways to support youth in the summer, but funding is

         20  inadequate.

         21                 Simultaneously, the need for summer

         22  care is rising.  This summer we will receive all

         23  TANF recipients in need of full-day child care for

         24  school-aged children.

         25                 If the City does not expand the
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          2  resources in Washington Heights, Inwood, families

          3  will be forced to place ever-growing numbers of

          4  children in informal care of uneven quality.

          5                 According to the testimony of HRA

          6  Deputy Commissioner Mark Hoover before the City

          7  Council in May of 1998, approximately 83 percent of

          8  recipients participating in WEP use informal child

          9  care, while ten percent use group care and seven

         10  percent use family care.

         11                 In November of 1998, HRA's Office of

         12  Employment Services reported that of the 1,027

         13  children of TANF recipients in Washington Heights

         14  Inwood currently receiving child care, 937 are in

         15  informal care settings and only 90 are in family

         16  registered day care homes.

         17                 Adelante-NSP work staff have found

         18  that the percentage of parents using informal child

         19  care is even larger, with only ten of the

         20  approximate 350 children of participants choosing

         21  placements with registered family day care

         22  providers.

         23                 This reliance on informal child care

         24  is related to many factors in addition to the

         25  limited resources in the community.
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          2                 The area's predominantly

          3  Spanish-speaking recent immigrant population cannot

          4  easily access information about child care options

          5  and available public subsidies.

          6                 Cultural attitudes towards child care

          7  and safety issues also influence child care

          8  decisions.

          9                 Neighborhood parents frequently

         10  distrust child care inhibiting some mothers from

         11  seeking work. When safe, supportive child care is in

         12  place, women will reach out to find full-time

         13  employment.

         14                 The qualities most important to them

         15  include competent care-givers, safe and clean

         16  environments and programs that pay attention to

         17  children's social development and handle discipline

         18  issues appropriately.

         19                 According to the New York City Public

         20  Advocate's report on welfare and child care, public

         21  assistance recipients don't receive the referrals

         22  they are entitled to, nor do they receive accurate

         23  information regarding their options.

         24                 Informal child care providers may not

         25  be equipped to provide the educational or social
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          2  stimulation required for healthy child development.

          3                 These providers were also not held to

          4  the same safety and health standards and registered

          5  providers.

          6                 Parents need to have choices for

          7  reliable child care in order to consistently attend

          8  their jobs and be assured that their children are

          9  receiving quality care.

         10                 One recommendation is out-stationing

         11  child care resource and referral staff at BEGIN job

         12  centers.

         13                 By placing staff at these locations,

         14  accurate information and education about types of

         15  care can be better disseminated. It is important

         16  that people moving off welfare to work be able to

         17  make informed decisions regarding the type of care

         18  their child receives.

         19                 It is the responsibility of New York

         20  City to provide that information.

         21                 Ninety percent of New Yorkers support

         22  government assistance to help pay for child care

         23  subsidies to lower income working families and those

         24  moving from welfare to work.

         25                 Community-based organizations, such
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          2  as Alianza Dominicana, Washington Heights Inwood

          3  Coalition, and Inwood Community Services, provide

          4  our community with much needed after school child

          5  care that is safe and respected by residents.

          6                 However, limited space and funding

          7  restrict their ability to continue to meet the

          8  growing needs of this community. An increase in the

          9  funding available to community-based organizations

         10  is one route to expanding the services needed in

         11  these communities.

         12                 Because space in this community is

         13  limited, another route to expanding child care

         14  resources involves maximizing the currently

         15  underutilized Board of Ed facilities.

         16                 These organizations have a history of

         17  providing family-based services that are sensitive

         18  to the multiple needs of working families. NMIC also

         19  supports the expansion of Board of Ed programs and

         20  recommends that funding for these programs should

         21  better meet the needs of the community.

         22                 Funding for programs such as the

         23  Latchkey Program would be better allocated on a per

         24  capita basis, in recognition of the large numbers of

         25  children being serviced in this community.
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          2                 Funding should also be expanded so

          3  that services can be provided all year, have

          4  flexible hours and be available to children in

          5  intermediate schools.

          6                 .

          7                 Expansion of Board of Ed resources is

          8  a route to better providing school-aged youth with

          9  needed programming, as well as providing the

         10  community with much needed additional pre-school

         11  services.

         12                 One idea for expanding pre-school

         13  programs is to include a pre-school component in its

         14  school-based after school programs.

         15                 New Jersey is at the forefront of the

         16  child care movement of responding to the needs of

         17  its residents. Approximately 44,000 pre-schoolers

         18  will be serviced with full day pre-school programs,

         19  a policy that finally responds to the needs of

         20  working parents.

         21                 New York's half day pre-kindergarten

         22  classes do not meet the needs of parents in

         23  work-related activities. Child care services must

         24  meet the needs of these families.

         25                 The reality in Washington Heights
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          2  Inwood is that those people looking for work often

          3  must travel to lower Manhattan or other boroughs.

          4  Child care facilities must provide services to

          5  address this need of working parents. Increasing

          6  resources available to communities with large

          7  numbers of children and low-income working parents

          8  must become a priority of New York City.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 MS. KOLBEN: My name is Nancy Kolben

         11  and I am the Executive Director of Child Care, Inc.,

         12  a child care resource and referral agency serving

         13  the five boroughs of New York City. And we assist

         14  over 4,500 parents each year to find and choose

         15  child care and maintain information on all regulated

         16  child care services.

         17                 We work extensively with the early

         18  childhood care and education service providers from

         19  infancy through school age, and we undertake the

         20  strategic projects to address barriers to service

         21  expansion funding and quality, and we fully agree

         22  with the kinds of issues that have been raised by my

         23  colleagues here. These are two organizations that we

         24  work with very closely on a variety of issues on

         25  expanding early childhood services.
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          2                 And I just want to say that I really

          3  applaud the fact that the Council has jointly

          4  sponsored this Committee because it clearly

          5  recognizes what we think is one of the most critical

          6  issues that we face, which is that even with limited

          7  resources, we are not making full use of those

          8  resources because there is no coordinated leadership

          9  planning resource allocation for the City of New

         10  York right now. We have a very fragmented service

         11  delivery system.

         12                 We applaud the City Council's effort

         13  to put more money into child care in the previous

         14  budget. I cannot not take this opportunity to alert

         15  you to our concerns, that we want to be sure that

         16  this money in fact ends up being used for expanding

         17  child care services, and we have some concerns about

         18  whether that is in fact what is going to happen.

         19                 I was asked to address the Council

         20  today about the unmet need for child care services,

         21  and you have heard about two components, one is the

         22  extended hour care and the other is to look very

         23  specifically at neighborhoods.

         24                 One needs to really focus on the

         25  neighborhood and community. All child care is local
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          2  and there are lots of conflicting information both

          3  on the availability of services, whether there is in

          4  fact an unmet need for child care services, as well

          5  as child care subsidies.

          6                 I want to say to you today that there

          7  is a critical unmet need, there is a great shortage

          8  of services, and a great shortage of resources, and

          9  you cannot look at those as separated from each

         10  other.

         11                   You cannot impact and be sure that

         12  the services are available that families need if you

         13  are not investing in resource expansion, as well as

         14  providing more money for subsidy.

         15                 We urge the Council to demand a City

         16  policy that recognizes the needs of working

         17  families, as well as those on public assistance.

         18                 And according to our analysis, as I

         19  had said, there is neither enough services or enough

         20  subsidy.

         21                 Much of what I will discuss today in

         22  terms of figures and data is contained in the Child

         23  Care, Inc., Primer, and the Council has received a

         24  hot off the press summary of some of the key charts,

         25  and I want to refer to some of what will be coming
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          2  out in the Primer.

          3                 The Primer is an attempt to pull

          4  together everything that we know about child care

          5  resources and funding. So, first a couple of basic

          6  premises:

          7                 All child care is local. Most

          8  families prefer child care options near home. Some

          9  will choose to take their children near their work.

         10                 Families cannot afford to pay more

         11  than ten percent of their gross income on child

         12  care. Families need options, and these options must

         13  include, as we have heard, weekend and evening care.

         14                 Good child care can happen in a

         15  variety of settings, including child care centers,

         16  family child care homes, and with parents.

         17                 In addition, we must remember that

         18  New York City's multiple delivery strategies have

         19  become more multiple recently. Some of this presents

         20  a major opportunity and additional challenges.

         21                 First of all, you have the child care

         22  services provided through the Agency for Child

         23  Development. You have ACD Headstart, the ACS

         24  Headstart, which is really not as integrated as it

         25  once was with ACD child care. You have private child
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          2  care service providers, and very importantly, a

          3  major new resource, and that is the implementation

          4  of a universal pre-k program.

          5                 In universal pre-k, although two and

          6  a half hours, if we worked this properly, has the

          7  potential with an appropriate blend of funding

          8  strategy to offer substantial additional full-day

          9  options for parents.

         10                 The very exciting thing about

         11  universal pre-k is that it has changed the public

         12  perception. We no longer question about whether

         13  child care needs to be educational or not. When you

         14  talk about universal pre-k, everyone assumes it is

         15  educational.

         16                 Let's look, though, at where we are

         17  starting from. And I just want to remind you, I know

         18  you have heard this in testimony here, the Agency

         19  for Child Development reports 36,000 families on

         20  their waiting list. That does not necessarily

         21  include all of the families that we heard about in

         22  Washington Heights, for example, who are on the

         23  waiting list of individual child care programs. They

         24  don't necessarily even make it to that ACD waiting

         25  list.
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          2                 I think that we know very little

          3  about those families who are trying to cope, who are

          4  on those waiting lists. Most of what we know from

          5  our conversations with parents is they make do with

          6  very shaky child care arrangements that could fall

          7  apart at any moment and don't necessarily offer safe

          8  quality care to families.

          9                 Another important fact that I want to

         10  highlight for you, because I don't think it is

         11  really understood, and that is, if you look at the

         12  ACD eligibility standards, technically a family of

         13  four earning about $30,000 a year is eligible for

         14  subsidized child care. I think we need to understand

         15  who is even getting access now, and we think that

         16  that access may change as it demands for families on

         17  public assistance to have access to child care

         18  services increases.

         19                 According to a survey that we did to

         20  programs in the community, we have identified that

         21  over 85 percent of the children who are currently

         22  using ACD child care live in families with incomes

         23  below $18,500. While we fully support that poor

         24  families need access to child care services, we are

         25  concerned that the working families of New York,
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          2  families who are just moving up the income scale, we

          3  are presuming that they have access to services but

          4  they really do not have access to these services. So

          5  I think that is an important piece to keep in mind.

          6                 While low-income working families

          7  languish on long waiting lists for financial

          8  assistance in child care spaces, public assistance

          9  families have subsidies but no place to use them,

         10  except in unregulated care settings.

         11                 I want to say a few words about that.

         12  You heard already that more than 80 percent of

         13  families on public assistance enrolled in welfare to

         14  work activities are relying on unregulated child

         15  care, that the City of New York is paying for.

         16                 Child Care, Inc., has recently

         17  documented and released a report and we have

         18  included a sort of key finding from that in the

         19  packet of material. This is based on our work in

         20  helping over 800 families on public assistance find

         21  child care, tracking their child care choices and

         22  following up their use of child care services.

         23                 With good information, good support,

         24  understanding of options, referrals to programs with

         25  vacancies, in fact the child care choices that
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          2  families make are quite different, different from

          3  what OES is reporting are the families choices of

          4  child care.

          5                 We found that many families who found

          6  us were in fact looking for a child care center but

          7  couldn't find it. What they found were waiting

          8  lists, and they ended up making, many of them were

          9  using informal care when they phoned.

         10                 Informal child care has an important

         11  place in the service delivery system, but it does

         12  not reflect the choices for many families. And I

         13  think when we look at this data it is a very

         14  important piece that we need to keep in mind.

         15                 Let's think about then not just

         16  families on public assistance, but I want you to

         17  take a step back, if you would, and to look at the

         18  total number of children in the City and what kinds

         19  of child care services we in fact really have

         20  available, because that is where we have to start

         21  from.

         22                 There are over 742,000 children under

         23  six, and 712,000 children from six to 12. We have

         24  focused here on the pre-school data around the

         25  availability of pre-school services. Not because we
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          2  do not fully believe that after school services are

          3  equally important. It is much harder to track the

          4  numbers because like in pre-school, you have a very

          5  divided service delivery system, some programs

          6  operate three or four hours, some operate five days

          7  a week, they are funded by a variety of funding

          8  sources. One of our collective challenges is to get

          9  a much better handle on what the availability of any

         10  kind of after school options in fact are.

         11                 If we assume that 58 percent of

         12  children -- I want to tell you how we get to a

         13  figure that says that there are 208,000, close to

         14  209,000 children who need out-of-home care while

         15  their parents work. And what we did was to look at

         16  the children under two who have working parents, and

         17  the children from three to five and the percentage

         18  of parents that are working, and those that would

         19  choose according to national data, a parent, a

         20  relative or a nanny. And if you start to factor that

         21  out, and we therefore have not started with the

         22  universe of 7,402 children, but you come down to a

         23  total of close to 209,000 children who need child

         24  care services, what is the service capacity in the

         25  community?
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          2                 We have a total of close to just over

          3  66,000 regulated full-day spaces for children under

          4  six, in child care centers, group family day care

          5  and family day care homes throughout the five

          6  boroughs.

          7                 One of the things that my colleagues

          8  in the five child care resource and referral

          9  agencies in New York City have recently documented

         10  is exactly how few operating, regulating family

         11  child care homes there are in this City. And Doug

         12  reported in his testimony about the 4,000 providers

         13  who had been on our provider referral list.

         14                 Unfortunately the number is going

         15  down and not up. When we really found out who was

         16  for real caring for children. There are only just

         17  over 3,200 regulated family child care providers for

         18  the entire City of New York, 700 group family day

         19  care providers. You begin to look at then what is

         20  the -- we have got 209,000 children who need

         21  out-of-home care, this means that we can accommodate

         22  only 30 percent of the children of working families

         23  who will choose out-of-home care in a regulated

         24  child care setting.

         25                 Overall this is challenging enough.
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          2  If however one breaks down the data looking at the

          3  specific availability of services for infants and

          4  toddlers, it is appalling.

          5                 There are only 11,000 regulated

          6  spaces for more than 95,000 children under three who

          7  need them. This means that only one in ten children

          8  under three could be in a regulated child care

          9  center.

         10                 This has not changed substantially in

         11  the past few years. The greatest growth has been in

         12  family day care, but this has been less substantial

         13  than we expected. Just to give you another

         14  benchmark, the State of Maryland which has a total

         15  population of 5.7 million people has over 13,000

         16  regulated family child care providers. We have a

         17  long way to go.

         18                 I think that the other thing that is

         19  really important for us to keep in mind is the

         20  number of families of children who will need

         21  assistance in paying for child care.

         22                 In fact, 75 percent of the children

         23  in New York City live in families that earn below 85

         24  percent of the state median income. The State median

         25  income for a family of four is approximately
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          2  $43,000. So what you see, not surprisingly, is that

          3  families with younger children are at the lower end

          4  of their earning curve and have lower incomes and

          5  need substantial assistance in paying for child

          6  care.

          7                 The primary expansion in early

          8  childhood services has been through the Universal

          9  Pre-K Program. And I think that it is important to

         10  note that over 13,700 children are enrolled this

         11  year in Universal Pre-K. We are working now to

         12  document what percentage of those children will have

         13  any access to full-day child care services.

         14                 If we can cover the base of two and a

         15  half hours, and find the money then to offer

         16  extended day, this is an incredible opportunity to

         17  expand child care services within New York City. We

         18  urge the Council to pay serious attention as you

         19  have to the child care challenge. And we urge you to

         20  provide the leadership that will continue to focus

         21  on a unified strategy that looks collectively at

         22  needs of low-income families, whether or not they

         23  are on public assistance and transitioning off of

         24  public assistance.

         25                 I want to reiterate Doug's
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          2  recommendation that the importance of having the

          3  state release their regulations with regard to child

          4  care funding, it has become a way for the City to

          5  say they really can't develop a plan, make

          6  recommendations, because they don't know what the

          7  state is saying. The City needs a plan for how we

          8  are going to expand and develop the kind of child

          9  care service delivery system that families of New

         10  York need. And I applaud your efforts in helping to

         11  move us in that direction.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         14  As you know, we agree with you, but we have been

         15  unable to show any kind of progress in the field.

         16                 Council Member Linares.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you.

         18                 First of all, I would like to take

         19  this opportunity to commend both chairs for holding

         20  this hearing, and secondly, also acknowledge the

         21  presentation of the three organizations that have

         22  come before us today, the information you are

         23  providing is extremely valuable and helps us in

         24  pursuing this challenge which I believe is a New

         25  York City challenge that requires for collective
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          2  efforts to really get us underway in meeting the

          3  demands.

          4                 In particular, I want to acknowledge

          5  the presentation of Ms. Rodriguez, from one of the

          6  organizations coming out of my district in Northern

          7  Manhattan, and I have met recently with this

          8  organization because child care needs and demands

          9  are a very serious crisis that we face, particularly

         10  in my community, as your testimony has indicated,

         11  and I am fully committed in making this a top

         12  priority in working with whomever.

         13                 I have a question to ask of you, but

         14  I also want to acknowledge that in addition to the

         15  tremendous demand that we have in northern Manhattan

         16  for child care, we have additional challenges that

         17  relate to lack of space and overcrowding that we

         18  face, both within the school system, and as well as

         19  pre-schoolers. And just to give you an example, in

         20  the schools we are not yet complying with the law

         21  for kindergarten. We have half-day kindergartens for

         22  most children which is, you know, not complying with

         23  state laws, and now we have pre-kinder mandated, so

         24  if we are not meeting the needs of kindergarten,

         25  five-year-olds, we are now talking that the law
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          2  mandates that four-year-olds, pre-k children, be

          3  provided seats for them to get access to schools.

          4  And so I am working now with the Board of Education,

          5  I am hoping that we can get through the Education

          6  Committee, another hearing like this, so that we can

          7  address the demands of pre-k and K in the context of

          8  the new mandates that we have and to help alleviate

          9  the situation with pre-schoolers.

         10                 I estimate that there is a percentage

         11  of students that are four-year-olds that could be in

         12  school that are taking up seats that could be

         13  available for three-year-olds and two-year-olds to

         14  help alleviate the problem.

         15                 So, right now I am working with the

         16  Board of Education to try to address that, at least

         17  from my area, but I am interested in looking at the

         18  bigger picture as well.

         19                 The question that I have is regarding

         20  how the challenge for us as a community could be

         21  addressed in creative ways, such as family day care

         22  and what it would take to have an approach in which

         23  the appropriate training takes place and that we are

         24  ensured that there can be a significant number of

         25  additional slots in connection with an approach that
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          2  could enable a community, like the one I represent,

          3  to increase significantly the number of slots with

          4  the desperate need that we have, and that is a

          5  question that I wanted to pose.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Could I

          7  answer that question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Sure.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I think that

         10  one of the important ways of answering, of

         11  responding to you would be to pass the bill that we

         12  have before the Council which expands day care

         13  networks, which identifies family day care as the

         14  most expandable quality supervised day care, and

         15  provides for an affiliation with the network. That

         16  bill has been languishing in the City Council now

         17  for a year and we have had to extend the existing

         18  bill periodically for a couple of months and we just

         19  did that again yesterday. So, that would be an

         20  immediate way, that the Committee on Women's Issues

         21  has introduced that and I think that you have been,

         22  you are a sponsor of that bill, and that would be I

         23  think an immediate way to respond to your needs.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I will commit

         25  to take this to the caucus, to the Black and
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          2  Hispanic Caucus, because this is an issue that we

          3  have discussed, it is a priority also for many of

          4  our communities. So, I look forward to working with

          5  you, Council member.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I don't mean

          7  to preclude your answers.

          8                 MS. KOLBEN: I think we all probably

          9  want to jump in and say something.

         10                 Do you want to go first?

         11                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Well, we definitely

         12  agree with you that if the bill was passed that it

         13  would provide more regulation for the family day

         14  care if they were tied to a network.

         15                 We also wanted to say that if the day

         16  care center, that we were just part of Northern

         17  Manhattan, day care center was opened and created

         18  new slots instead of just replacing old slots, that

         19  would also provide additional spaces that we so

         20  desperately need.

         21                 MS. KOLBEN: We know how to do family

         22  day care right. And I totally applaud what Council

         23  Member Eldridge has said. We need the regulations

         24  that support family day care networks, we need the

         25  payment mechanisms that will assure that the
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          2  organizations, many of whom are sitting in the

          3  rooms, some of them are sitting right here, get the

          4  resources that they need to expand what they have

          5  been doing for many years.

          6                 What we have had, for example, for 20

          7  years, is 1,800 family day care homes that were part

          8  of support organizations, funded through the agency

          9  for child development. It hasn't changed in 20

         10  years, while the demands for child care have gone

         11  through the roof, so what we need is to assure that

         12  that investment is there.

         13                 The organizations that know how to do

         14  it know how to do it well, they are there, the

         15  people who know how to help new organizations want

         16  to do it, they are there, so this is where the

         17  bottleneck has been.

         18                 MR. TURETSKY: If I can just add.

         19  United Neighborhood Houses is in the process, we

         20  have provided family child care for a long time, we

         21  have recently created a program called Neighborhood

         22  Networks for Family Child Care. It is a five-year

         23  plan to create space for 50,000 children through

         24  family child care and also create 12,500 jobs.

         25                 A number of people have already been
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          2  trained through this, we have a number of operating

          3  networks throughout the City.

          4                 In Northern Manhattan, for example,

          5  and i want to tie this to a number of things that

          6  Nancy had said before, expansion must be

          7  complemented to go hand-in-hand with the

          8  availability of subsidies. We have about 90 trained

          9  providers, licensed trained providers in Northern

         10  Manhattan, but they can't take kids or they only

         11  have one or two kids because there is no subsidies

         12  to go with them.

         13                 So, we are losing opportunities for

         14  about 350 kids right there.

         15                 Penelope Pi-Sunyer from our

         16  organization is here, she runs the Neighborhood

         17  Networks Program and would be glad to provide you

         18  with more information on it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: If I may,

         20  there is a possibility with the Board of Ed and they

         21  are taking a look at establishing early childhood

         22  centers, as opposed to building, you know, large

         23  scale schools, and that may be an avenue which may

         24  spell some relief and I am working very aggressively

         25  with them one the one hand.
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          2                 On the other hand, my reading in

          3  terms of the possibility of building new day care

          4  facilities, my information is that the City does not

          5  have capital funding for building such day cares

          6  which, again, present a problem for communities,

          7  such as Northern Manhattan, which is in desperate

          8  need of additional facilities.

          9                 So, this is a challenge that we need

         10  to face up to if we are going to make new child care

         11  centers part of the solution.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am sorry

         13  to cut you off, but I think we have to go.

         14                 Also, I would just like to say,

         15  Council Member Linares, that we have also, as the

         16  Committee on Women's Issues has requested several

         17  times a joint hearing with the Committee on

         18  Education to discuss pre-k. Under the existing

         19  regulations in this state, the legislation, a

         20  certain number of pre-k spots can go to families --

         21  to day care providers, child care providers. But

         22  also, as you know, if you move children into pre-k

         23  it may free up some spaces in child care, and I hope

         24  that you will be able to help us get that joint

         25  hearing.
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          2                 Let me just go on and call on some

          3  other members. But if you have been wondering what

          4  happened to the Chair of the General Welfare

          5  Committee, Steve DiBrienza, he is outside at a

          6  demonstration of a group called Family First, which

          7  some of you may be familiar with. Family First is a

          8  drop-in child parent/child center in Brooklyn that

          9  the Mayor is now evicting from his headquarters, and

         10  they are outside trying to protect them. It is a

         11  wonderful program and we have been out there to tour

         12  it and meet the people and met the parents and the

         13  children and it is of course something that every

         14  neighborhood should have, so we are hoping that we

         15  can keep it in its present site because if it has to

         16  move it most likely will go out of business.

         17                 Council Member Lopez.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         19                 Thank you for being here today to

         20  testify. I have three questions for the panel. And

         21  before that I want to make clear for the record that

         22  I strongly support the bill that is pending. I not

         23  only support that bill, I want to expand it. And I

         24  want that bill to cover every need that our children

         25  have in this City of ours, because in my opinion the
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          2  policies that exist right now are not covering that

          3  or are not protecting our most important resource,

          4  which are those children and those youth.

          5                 And with that clarification, thank

          6  you for coming here to testify. You opened a

          7  pandoras box that I need to understand what you were

          8  saying in order for me to clarify this.

          9                 You mentioned that it is a series of

         10  patterns, and the number is pretty big, that have

         11  unreal working hours, that the hours change from

         12  here to there, and you are talking about children

         13  who need day care in the morning, afternoon, night,

         14  every day of the week, et cetera, et cetera, and I

         15  got very scared when you were saying that because I

         16  want to ask you, are we talking about a

         17  proliferation of sweatshops? Are we talking about

         18  illegal places where people are putting people to

         19  work where children have to be taken care? If that

         20  is part of this problem, this has to be addressed

         21  also, besides the day care issue. Because if the

         22  places that we are talking about are legal places,

         23  then fine, we don't have no problem with that. But

         24  this is the secondary issue that I want you to

         25  address if you know any information about it.
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          2                 MR. TURETSKY: I don't have concrete

          3  information that I could provide you at this

          4  juncture.

          5                 I mean, I was basically looking to

          6  typically at information and talking anecdotally

          7  with people like at University Settlement in your

          8  district.

          9                 The reality is some of these garment

         10  factories may be quote/unquote sweatshops, some may

         11  be perfectly legitimate. In either case I think it

         12  is clear that they are inappropriate places to be

         13  bringing children to spend an afternoon. What, are

         14  they going to play among the boxes, play among the

         15  piles of fabric? It is not safe. It doesn't help

         16  promote their education, their development,

         17  whatever. So, I think certainly on that level the

         18  issue is very real.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I don't

         20  disagree with you on that, but the problem here is

         21  that what we are talking about is the secondary

         22  problem, a violation of the labor law, and no child

         23  should be in a day care center at twelve midnight. I

         24  mean no matter how good that day care center is,

         25  they need to go home at some point then.
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          2                 I want to look at both issues because

          3  I also know that they provide employment, and

          4  employment is critical for that family to take care

          5  of that child.

          6                 MR. TURETSKY: There are child care

          7  centers, family child care providers, that are

          8  licensed and equipped to provide around the clock

          9  care, both in New York City, there are not very

         10  many, as I said before, but also around the country.

         11                 The Department of Labor, the Women's

         12  Bureau had actually done a report four or five years

         13  ago on this topic and cited instances all around the

         14  country of where this was provided on some level.

         15                 Yes, it has to be appropriate. There

         16  are some serious issues in talking about what is the

         17  appropriate kind of care late at night. But I think

         18  one of the bottom line questions, and it goes to

         19  whether we are talking about someone who has to work

         20  a midnight to eight in the morning shift, or

         21  somebody that works from nine to five is, you know,

         22  being forced to make a choice between having a job

         23  or having child care, and I think the issue is to

         24  resolve that so parents are not put in that kind of

         25  a dilemma.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: But you will

          3  say that this is a problem in regard to the job

          4  sites also?

          5                 MR. TURETSKY: It is a problem in the

          6  job. No child should be forced to be on a job site,

          7  it is inappropriate.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: We don't have a

          9  disagreement on that.

         10                 MR. TURETSKY: Absolutely.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: The question is

         12  not in regard to that. I am out there with you.

         13                 MR. TURETSKY: If your question, as I

         14  understand it, deals with are there violations of

         15  labor law because children are being taken to a

         16  factory floor, I am not an expert in that area but I

         17  believe you are probably right, there is. And you

         18  know, then the state is responsible for doing the

         19  inspections. My understanding is there has been a

         20  serious cutback in state labor inspectors, so you

         21  know, there is a kind of pyramid here in terms of

         22  being able to attract that, yes.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Okay, my second

         24  problem is in regard to, Ms. Kolben -- I am sorry if

         25  I pronounced that incorrectly -- you made a
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          2  statement that I think was very serious, and I want

          3  to clarify it.

          4                 You indicated that you are concerned

          5  that the dollars that were allocated by this Council

          6  to expand the services of the day care system may

          7  not be used for that, and I want you to clarify for

          8  me what do you imply with that, what do you mean by

          9  that? And what is it that we can do in your

         10  suggestions to make sure that that don't happen?

         11                 MR. KOLBEN: It is my understanding

         12  that the money that was put forward by the Council

         13  was specifically intended for specific expansion of

         14  child care services. You allocated the money to the

         15  agency for child development, which is part of the

         16  Administration for Children Services.

         17                 In subsequent conversations that we

         18  have had and in trying to follow up what is the

         19  service expansion strategy, how will this happen?

         20  What we basically understood so far is that the

         21  agency for child development and administration for

         22  children services have said that they are reviewing

         23  what their funding needs are and that in fact this

         24  money may need to be used to plug gaps.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Madame Chair?
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: In regard to

          4  this answer -- Madame Chair, can I have your

          5  attention?

          6                 In regard to this answer, I request

          7  that the Women's Committee conduct an oversight

          8  hearing to review and to check on this matter and to

          9  make sure that the $10 million, right? That is what

         10  we put?

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thirteen.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thirteen

         13  million dollars that the Council allocated for these

         14  services, be investigated if that money indeed has

         15  been allocated for what we intended and if it is

         16  not, the reasons for that and to make sure that that

         17  money is not diverting --

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well,

         19  Council Member, we have requested the Administration

         20  to come to testify today, and that is one of the

         21  questions that we have been intending to ask. We

         22  have asked those questions in letters and verbally

         23  and we have had no response, so we will ask it

         24  today.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand
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          2  that we are going to ask --

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: This is the

          4  oversight hearing we are talking about.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I understand

          6  that but I wanted specifically to narrow down this

          7  issue in terms of that money because if we allocated

          8  that money, the Administration cannot claim that

          9  this money don't exist and the services cannot be

         10  provided.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That's fine.

         12  Yes, I agree.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And the last

         16  question that I have --

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I would like

         18  to remind everybody, we have another panel and

         19  another speaker and then we have the Administration,

         20  and it is now 12:00. I am sorry.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I quit on my

         22  questioning. I am fine.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I quit. I

         25  understand Council members have the right to speak.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Council

          3  Member Provenzano.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I will

          5  make it brief.

          6                 I notice that most of the discussion

          7  today centers around Manhattan, Upper Manhattan, and

          8  what have you, not to downplay that. But I am a

          9  Bronx Council member, I am concerned about my

         10  borough. Is there some way, have you done it, can

         11  you do it, where information can be supplied to us

         12  possibly broken down by Council district, community

         13  board district, as to their existing programs are

         14  where do we have regulated programs or so-called

         15  informal programs, what the need is in, you know,

         16  various districts? I mean, you look at my district

         17  and say, hey, you know, maybe there is no call for

         18  it, there definitely is. Particularly, and I

         19  emphasized this before when we had this type of

         20  hearing, in our working families who, you know, we

         21  tend to think, well, the mother works, the father

         22  works, they are doing okay, they are making a lot of

         23  money - they are not.

         24                 If they have two kids, three kids,

         25  maybe one is an infant that needs some type of day
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          2  care and they are still just seeking out an

          3  existence between the two salaries, and I find that

          4  a very important part in these discussions that we

          5  have.

          6                 MS. KOLBEN: Let me give you a

          7  two-part answer to your question. We totally agree

          8  the focus on Northern Manhattan, for example, was an

          9  example of one community that has a dire need for

         10  child care. It is only one of many around the City.

         11  Generating information by community planning board

         12  by City Council district, assembly district, is a

         13  goal that we share with our child care resource and

         14  referral colleagues. We can generate information for

         15  you right now by zip code, and we would be happy to

         16  do that in terms of your district.

         17                 I would suggest that you also request

         18  this information from the agency for child

         19  development who has the capacity to produce this

         20  information because they were required to do it by

         21  other electoral districts.

         22                 I hope that certainly by next year

         23  and before that when we sit before you we can give

         24  you a beautiful map that shows you exactly what is

         25  available, and more importantly, that we will have
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          2  expanded the services from where we are this year.

          3                 So, we would be more than happy to

          4  get you by zip code the information from your

          5  district.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: That will

          7  be real helpful, I will request it.

          8                 I have one more, it is not really a

          9  question, but it just seems to me when we start

         10  talking about informal day care, that is almost

         11  impossible to track. I mean, you know, you are

         12  talking about bringing that to a woman that watches

         13  two or three kids or as you said to an aunt or uncle

         14  or whatever, so I would imagine that those kinds of

         15  statistics are really very far from the truth.

         16                 MS. KOLBEN: The information that we

         17  can provide you and that others can provide you

         18  focused on regulated child care services. I think it

         19  is important to recognize that informal care is

         20  generally not a category of available care. It is a

         21  very personal relationship between an individual and

         22  someone who may only be caring for the child of that

         23  particular individual.

         24                 There are -- we have identified, you

         25  know, numbers of people in communities who do on an
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          2  ongoing basis decide they only want to take care of

          3  one or two children and they are not required to be

          4  regulated, but we don't track that as part of the

          5  child care supply. Because that is a very fluid

          6  piece. We really look at what is regulated child

          7  care, what we think will be there available on a day

          8  in and day out basis.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That is of

         10  course one of the problems with unregulated child

         11  care and the fact that we are using public funds to

         12  unregulated child care and we have no way of judging

         13  the quality or of supervising it or mandating any

         14  kind of standards.

         15                 Thank you very much, for the panel.

         16                 Council Member Provenzano, the Agency

         17  for Child Development has done a survey. They have

         18  not shared it with us but they would be able to give

         19  us that information, so we will formally ask them in

         20  hopes that we can get it for you.

         21                 The next panel is Jennifer Light,

         22  from the Welfare Law Center, Emily Stubbs, Brooklyn

         23  Legal Services and --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Madame

         25  Chairwoman.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Oh, I am

          3  sorry, Mr. Perkins.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I guess in

          5  the interest of time I have been overlooked.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I totally

          7  forgot. I am sorry.

          8                 Go ahead, Mr. Perkins.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: If it is

         10  necessary, I can --

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: No, go

         12  ahead.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The next

         16  panel is going to discuss access issues, such as the

         17  job centers, working with public assistance parents

         18  and things.

         19                 But I am sorry, go ahead.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am not

         21  going to be long.

         22                 The provision of child care services,

         23  based on my personal experience, as well as the

         24  testimony that I am hearing today is fundamental as

         25  the provision of education.
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          2                 It would seem almost outrageous if a

          3  parent went to enroll their child in a school and

          4  was told, oh, well, gee there are no more slots. And

          5  as far as we are concerned, in that same

          6  circumstance there is no more significant problem in

          7  my district than the provision of child care

          8  services.

          9                 I have one or two concerns related,

         10  and I think it is the political will, not the

         11  resources, that are at issue. I don't think that it

         12  is a genuine, honest reaction to say that we don't

         13  have the money, or that our schools can't be, or

         14  centers can't be built or schools can't be made

         15  available for this.

         16                 I just think that there is a

         17  stubborn, perhaps anti-child or anti somebody

         18  mentality going on here that is preventing us from

         19  responding appropriately to this problem.

         20                 One of the areas of my concern has to

         21  do with the rent subsidy that some of the providers

         22  are given, which seems to max out at $5,000. I am

         23  not sure if you are familiar with that, but it has

         24  come to my attention that some providers are now

         25  being required to pay more in rent and then when
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          2  they go to ACD to get more, they can't get more

          3  because they have reached that $5,000 per month

          4  maximum and so now they are in a situation in which

          5  they have to be moved out.

          6                 One glaring example of this, by the

          7  way, relates to a news worthy situation that

          8  recently took place at some housing on West 97th

          9  Street, in Councilman Reed's district, Madame

         10  Chairwoman, it is a Mitchell-Lama development where

         11  there is a day care center, and the owner Kopell, a

         12  supporter of the Mayor, is not only raising the rent

         13  700 fold on the tenants in the residential housing,

         14  but also significantly raising the rent three four

         15  times on the tenant, the child care provider, the

         16  day care provider in the commercial side, so they

         17  are not going to be able to stay, and I am wondering

         18  what your information is as it relates to those

         19  types of problems that are taking place where the

         20  rent is the problem for some of the providers? That

         21  is number one question.

         22                 MS. KOLBEN: There isn't a simple

         23  answer. This has been an ongoing issue that affects

         24  one public agency providing resources and another

         25  public agency in effect billing for those services.
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          2  So that family child care providers have had a

          3  problem all along in subsidized housing, they are

          4  earning an income and then their income impacts on

          5  what their rent payment levels are.

          6                 I think this is an issue where if the

          7  political will was to look at how we make this

          8  happen, you begin to look at the regulations with

          9  regard to subsidized housing and make these come

         10  more in sync with each other.

         11                 The rental of space for child care

         12  centers is a critical problem. Public agencies have

         13  assumed that -- I mean, people have always thought

         14  you get space for nothing, so the rent levels that

         15  were approved for programs that received some public

         16  funding as child care centers have been notoriously

         17  low. It has had a major impact on trying to develop

         18  any expanded center-based services. You know, it is

         19  a little bit like the issue of youth programs that

         20  pay fees for the schools, for accessing space in the

         21  schools, so it is like one source of public dollars

         22  is being used to pay for another public use.

         23                 So, it is an issue. It is an

         24  important issue that we need to address and I thank

         25  you for bringing it up. There isn't a solution to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            61

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  it, it is a problem.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: There is no

          4  solution that is being proposed by you is what you

          5  mean. There has to be a solution.

          6                 MS. KOLBEN: Well, the solution has to

          7  be that the agencies involved need to sit down and

          8  look at what are appropriate expectations. You don't

          9  want to be moving people out of the very housing in

         10  which they have been able to -- out of their housing

         11  because they have now become employed and are

         12  earning an income.

         13                 There is an issue also that continues

         14  to be an issue within the public housing system,

         15  about whether people who are in public housing can

         16  in fact be employed in their homes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you.

         18                 Let me just be clear. This is not

         19  simply just an issue of a day care center in a

         20  subsidized housing, this is day care centers and

         21  rental problems --

         22                 MS. KOLBEN: No, I understand. These

         23  are individuals who are in, operating child care

         24  programs in their homes, yes. And also renting

         25  space.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          3                 MR. KOLBEN: I mean, they are two

          4  different issues but they both - I am not prepared

          5  to make a specific recommendation about exactly how

          6  to solve it. I agree with you that it is a problem,

          7  we ought to look at it and come up with some

          8  recommendations that deal with the issue.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me ask

         10  you a question quickly --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Please, Council

         12  Member. When Council Member DiBrienza comes up here

         13  and finds that we are still on the first panel --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The last

         15  thing I would want to do is have Council Member

         16  DiBrienza yell at me.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: He's not

         18  going to yell at you, he's going to yell at me.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, then

         20  even worse to have him yell at you.

         21                 What is happening in -- there was the

         22  corporate sector, you know, providing day care for

         23  their workers, what are we seeing in that area? Is

         24  that happening? Is it growing? Is it diminishing?

         25                 MS. KOLBEN: We are seeing a little
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          2  tiny bit of it.

          3                 There are hospitals that provide some

          4  child care, we are seeing a substantial expansion of

          5  what are called drop-in emergency care services for

          6  people whose regular child care arrangements have

          7  broken down.

          8                 I think there is an increasing

          9  interest now once again on the part of the corporate

         10  community to look at this and to look at

         11  partnerships with the public sector.

         12                 Other cities have had much more

         13  development of work site sponsored child care than

         14  we have seen here in New York. Part of the geography

         15  of New York and commuting and other problems, real

         16  estate costs, et cetera.

         17                 MR. TURETSKY: If I could just add

         18  quickly, our policy actually looks, has a

         19  recommendation around that issue, and looks at

         20  opportunities -- we believe there are opportunities

         21  where there are agglomerations of similar businesses

         22  that have similar kinds of hours that would make

         23  that kind of a relationship really possible.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: There are

         25  businesses that do provide it, and there is no City
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          2  agency that now provides day care facilities, and

          3  that is one of the issues we will discuss when we

          4  have the Women's Issue Committee, we will talk about

          5  City policies.

          6                 It is very complicated. The question

          7  of long-term leases, denying the flexibility of

          8  moving day care centers and everything else, so we

          9  will discuss it and it can come back into Land Use

         10  or other areas when we talk about physical space.

         11                 So, it is a very important topic and

         12  you are right to discuss it, but I am not sure that

         13  this is the right place, okay?

         14                 Thank you, everybody. Thank you,

         15  panel. And now the next panel, Jennifer Light, from

         16  Welfare Law Center, Emily Stubbs from Legal

         17  Services, Latisha Wadsworth, Child Development

         18  Support Corporation.

         19                 Excuse me for one minute. We are

         20  going to turn to the Counsel of the General Welfare

         21  Committee.

         22                 MS. LEVIN: Could you each please

         23  raise your right hand.

         24                 Do you swear that the testimony you

         25  are about to provide is the truth, the whole truth
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          2  and nothing but the truth?

          3                 MS. LIGHT: I do.

          4                 MS. WADSWORTH: I do.

          5                 MS. STUBBS: I do.

          6                 MS. LEVIN: If each of you could state

          7  your name and affiliation and then you can begin to

          8  testify.

          9                 MS. LIGHT: I am Jennifer Light. I am

         10  an attorney at the Welfare Law Center.

         11                 MS. STUBBS: I am Emily Stubbs, I am

         12  an attorney at South Brooklyn Legal Services in

         13  Brooklyn.

         14                 MS. WADSWORTH: Latisha Wadsworth,

         15  Director of Day Care Services, Child Development

         16  Support Corporation.

         17                 MS. LIGHT: Thank you. My name is

         18  Jennifer Light and I am an attorney at the Welfare

         19  Law Center. As you know, in New York State, parents

         20  receiving family assistance are entitled to child

         21  care assistance if they have children under the age

         22  of 13 and need child care to participate in work

         23  activities.

         24                 These subsidies are absolutely

         25  essential to the success of New York's efforts to
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          2  move individuals from welfare to work.

          3                 More importantly, these subsidies are

          4  essential to the well-being and success of all

          5  families receiving family assistance.

          6                 As we move into the work force, these

          7  families must have the same peace of mind that other

          8  parents have, the knowledge that their children are

          9  in safe, quality child care.

         10                 Yet, an epidemic of misinformation

         11  from Human Resources Administration workers is

         12  creating a tremendous obstacle in the path of

         13  families trying to move from welfare to work.

         14                 Every day family assistance

         15  applicants and participants share their stories of

         16  frustration and discouragement with advocates and

         17  lawyers. Perhaps the most common story applicant

         18  parents tell is that workers threaten them with

         19  sanctions if they cannot find child care prior to

         20  their next HRA appointment.

         21                 Federal law cannot be more clear on

         22  this issue. Parents who cannot participate in a work

         23  activity because they lack child care cannot be

         24  sanctioned. Yet, many parents receive this

         25  misinformation and attempt to hastily arrange
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          2  whatever child care they can, regardless of its

          3  quality or reliability, in the hope that they won't

          4  lose their only means of feeding and housing their

          5  children.

          6                 Other parents can't find anyone to

          7  care for their children in time. After informing

          8  administration workers they cannot find child care,

          9  parents report that the workers tell them to return

         10  home and wait for a letter from the Administration.

         11                 The letter they receive is a

         12  conciliation letter, which precedes the sanction for

         13  failure to comply with the HRA program. Yet, what

         14  the law requires is that parents who cannot find

         15  child care are supposed to receive referrals to two

         16  child care providers with openings for their

         17  children.

         18                 This misinformation has real life

         19  consequences beyond sanctions or loss of benefits as

         20  well. One mother with an eight-day old baby went to

         21  a job center seeking public assistance. The job

         22  center worker told her that she would have to begin

         23  working the following Monday. This is absolutely

         24  contrary to state law, which allows mothers of

         25  children under one year of age a three month

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            68

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  exemption from their work activity requirements.

          3                 The mother explained to the worker

          4  that she was breastfeeding the infant and cannot

          5  leave the baby to work. In response the worker told

          6  the mother that the baby had to be independent.

          7  Scared of being denied benefits, the mother asked

          8  her friend to watch her baby and attempted to

          9  participate in the work program. The baby, however,

         10  would not drink from a bottle for the child care

         11  provider. After two days the baby had to be treated

         12  at the emergency room for dehydration.

         13                 Misinformation not only endangers

         14  children, it frustrates and discourages families

         15  seeking to move from welfare to work. Parents who

         16  are wrongly told they are not eligible for child

         17  care give up job opportunities. Parents afraid of

         18  sanctions place their children in unreliable and

         19  possibly unsafe child care. Such arrangements often

         20  fall through, causing parents to miss work and risk

         21  losing their jobs.

         22                 If the Administration truly desires

         23  to move parents to work and not just to get them off

         24  of welfare, parents must be able to access child

         25  care subsidies until they are able to afford child
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          2  care on their own.

          3                 New York City does not have a system

          4  which allows them to do so today. Misinformation

          5  from Administration officials is a primary reason

          6  why.

          7                 Parents who receive false information

          8  about child care subsidies may be sanctioned, they

          9  may be terminated from the family assistance rolls,

         10  but they will not be able to work.

         11                 As the Council reviews the

         12  Administration's child care plan, particular

         13  attention should be paid to the accuracy of

         14  information to be provided to families.

         15                 Are families provided written notice

         16  of their rights and responsibilities?

         17                 Are workers trained on what families'

         18  rights to child care actually are?

         19                 What are workers told to tell

         20  families who need child care assistance, and what

         21  monitoring is done to assure that workers do

         22  correctly inform families of their child care

         23  rights.

         24                 If the Council finds the answers to

         25  these questions unsatisfactory, measures to address
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          2  them must be implemented. Such measures are

          3  imperative to assuring that both the families

          4  realize their goal of moving into the work force and

          5  that New York's children are safely cared for.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you. I

          8  think we will go through the whole panel and then we

          9  will ask questions.

         10                 MS. STUBBS: Good morning. My name is

         11  Emily Stubbs, and I am a staff attorney in the

         12  Government Benefits Unit at South Brooklyn Legal

         13  Services. Our office provides civil legal service to

         14  low-income families in Brooklyn.

         15                 The Government Benefits Unit

         16  represents families on welfare, food stamps and

         17  Medicaid.  I am also a National Association of

         18  Public Interest Lawyers Equal Justice fellow, and

         19  working on a two-year project focusing on access to

         20  child care by parents on public assistance.

         21                 In my work at Brooklyn Legal Services

         22  I am witnessing firsthand the lack of access to

         23  child care for families who are working or

         24  participating in workfare and on public assistance.

         25                 Today I will discuss two problems
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          2  that parents on public assistance face in accessing

          3  child care.

          4                 First, the child care assistance

          5  delivery system is complex, slow and difficult to

          6  negotiate, which leads to long delays in payments

          7  for child care and lost work opportunities for

          8  parents.

          9                 And second, HRA workers effectively

         10  deny parents access to appropriate child care by

         11  disregarding her legal rights and insisting that

         12  parents secure care in arbitrary short time periods,

         13  or that they use informal care.

         14                 The first problem is the difficulty

         15  parents face in negotiating the City's very complex

         16  system of child care delivery to access child care.

         17                 This complex system, combined with

         18  the City's failure to assist parents in accessing

         19  child care assistance results in effective denials

         20  of assistance, even when that child care assistance

         21  is guaranteed to parents by state law.

         22                 The State Social Services Law

         23  guarantees child care assistance to families on

         24  family assistance with children under 13, as

         25  Jennifer Light just said.
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          2                 Despite this guarantee in State law,

          3  parents who are working and receiving public

          4  assistance have enormous difficulty in accessing the

          5  child care that they are entitled to.

          6                 The problem is that when parents move

          7  from welfare's training programs or workfare to

          8  private employment, they must negotiate three

          9  separate non-integrated systems of child care

         10  assistance delivery, all within HRA.

         11                 Depending on the program the parent

         12  is in, child care may be paid for by three separate

         13  sections of HRA. If the parent is in BEGIN,

         14  participating in workfare or training, her child

         15  care assistance comes in the form of a voucher

         16  payment from OES. If a parent is working, her child

         17  care comes in the form of a cash payment on her

         18  public assistance budget, processed by income

         19  support workers now at the job centers.

         20                 And if a parent is transitioning off

         21  welfare, her child care benefits come from a

         22  separate division of OES called Work-Related

         23  Benefits. None of these delivery methods appear to

         24  interact with each other. When parents move from

         25  workfare to employment and off public assistance,
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          2  they must reapply each time for child care benefits.

          3  The time delays in processing the benefits can be

          4  substantial. We have seen several delays of three

          5  months or more.

          6                 Moreover, workers are unwilling to

          7  process retroactive benefits from the time the

          8  parent applied for child care assistance.

          9                 For instance, I have a client who

         10  completed an authorized training program in late

         11  summer. When she was at that program, OES paid for

         12  her child care through vouchers. In August, when her

         13  training program ended, the client obtained a

         14  part-time job for 20 hours a week. She still

         15  qualified for family assistance by her income, but

         16  when she asked again for child care they sent her

         17  for ACD, to send her over to ACD, who then told her

         18  that she would be put on a two-year waiting list for

         19  their child care.

         20                 She went back to it again, since she

         21  of course had her job to attend, and they told her

         22  there to go to her income support worker. Her income

         23  support worker told her that she knew nothing about

         24  child care, and eventually, after several more

         25  attempts to get child care assistance she came to
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          2  me.

          3                 It turns out that this client's

          4  application for child care benefits had to be

          5  processed at the Income Support Center. The Income

          6  Support Center worker had no idea what to do with

          7  the application for child care assistance and simply

          8  told my client to go away.

          9                 With substantial advocacy, the client

         10  finally received the assistance she was guaranteed

         11  by law but not until three months later.

         12                 Moreover, she still has not received

         13  all the retro money she was entitled to during those

         14  three months. During that time while she was waiting

         15  for the child care money to be processed, she used

         16  her scant income to pay her babysitter, and

         17  consequently my client fell behind in her utilities

         18  and recently faced losing her utility meter.

         19                 This needlessly complex system

         20  combined with the City's failure to assist parents

         21  who are working results in the denial of child care

         22  assistance.

         23                 Similarly, parents participating in

         24  workfare are denied access to child care because

         25  their legal rights are disregarded in practice by
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          2  HRA employees.

          3                 For example, under State law parents

          4  cannot be forced to use informal care, that is,

          5  leave their children with friends or relatives in

          6  order to participate in workfare.

          7                 Despite this guarantee in State law,

          8  City workers often give parents the ultimatum Jen

          9  Light had just discussed: find child care of any

         10  sort or face a sanction reducing your public

         11  assistance benefits.

         12                 Similarly HRA workers require parents

         13  to find child care in extremely short periods of

         14  time, often as soon as a week, even though there is

         15  no legal requirement setting any kind of timetable

         16  in which a parent must find care. These practices

         17  work to disadvantage parents in two ways: first,

         18  parents are forced to leave their children with

         19  friends or relatives or many would prefer more

         20  formal care, and second, those parents are set up to

         21  lose their public assistance benefits because of the

         22  very nature of the informal care arrangement.

         23                 When the friend or relative is

         24  watching the children is sick or has an appointment

         25  of her own she cannot miss, the parent must cover
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          2  and miss a work assignment and she then risks losing

          3  her public assistance benefits.

          4                 In conclusion, the City's complex

          5  system of child care delivery and the City's

          6  disregard of the law prevents parents from accessing

          7  child care. To rectify these problems, the City's

          8  system of child care delivery should be integrated

          9  into a single system with no reapplications or

         10  waiting period, and HRA workers must be trained in

         11  the legal rights of parents, as well as the

         12  responsibilities of the agencies to help parents

         13  secure appropriate care.

         14                 MS. WADSWORTH: My name is Latisha

         15  Wadsworth. I am the Director of Day Care Services

         16  for Child Development Support Corporation.

         17                 Among the programs that we provide

         18  for New York's parents is a child resource and

         19  referral program. We serve approximately 1,300

         20  children every three months throughout all five

         21  boroughs of New York City.

         22                 I am going to -- I want to apologize

         23  in advance for not having a statement in front of

         24  you, I have the flu and I can talk but I can't

         25  write.
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          2                 I just want to talk about the issue

          3  of access for parents in New York City. We serve

          4  over two-thirds of the parents who call our agency

          5  are subsidy eligible, either TANF families or

          6  families who are working and who are eligible for

          7  subsidies. One in four families find enrollment,

          8  actually accomplish enrollment in child care slots

          9  as we do follow up. Our contract mandates that we

         10  follow-up our counseling with parents so that we

         11  find out what kind of care that people have received

         12  and have enrolled their children in.

         13                 As we do that follow up and make our

         14  annual reports to the state, we find one in four

         15  families are able to enroll their children in some

         16  sort of child care, including informal child care.

         17  So, we are talking about the whole range of

         18  regulated and informal care that only one in four

         19  families are finding.

         20                 As we talk with parents on a daily

         21  basis, we find that the bulk of the care requested

         22  is for infant toddler care. As you are well aware

         23  and has been said over and over again, as families

         24  are brought into the work force either through on

         25  their own or through participation in welfare to
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          2  work activities, the issue of child care is

          3  paramount and in fact the linchpin to their ability

          4  to even conduct an effective work search, much less

          5  be able to actually enter the job force.

          6                 Once having entered the job force, if

          7  parents are lucky enough to participate find child

          8  care, the issue is are they able to maintain that

          9  care over the life of their participation in the job

         10  force.

         11                 Issues that parents face as they try

         12  to access child care has been outlined by my

         13  colleague, the complex child care system in New York

         14  City. Issues that parents are looking at are issues

         15  of flexibility, the hours of care, the numbers of

         16  children that they have in the family. Many parents

         17  who call us looking for care, for instance, do not

         18  even ask for care for their school-aged children.

         19  They don't even believe that it exists, so they

         20  don't even raise the question.

         21                 Our counselors are trained to really

         22  dig deep as we talk with parents and find out not

         23  only is the one child who they are calling for who

         24  usually they want child care for, who is an infant

         25  or a toddler, but who are the other children at home

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            79

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  who are not receiving care are usually who are

          3  school-aged children and the parent has no belief

          4  that there are services available so they don't even

          5  ask the question.

          6                 It has been our experience that

          7  through careful questioning and discussion with

          8  parents find out that usually the needs that they

          9  have for child care is much greater even than their

         10  initial, the impetus for the initial call.

         11                 So, issues of multiple children,

         12  location, is the child care accessible in a way that

         13  people can get to the child care on time, pick up

         14  the children, get them to and from child care in a

         15  reasonable manner. The issue obviously of

         16  affordability is top on the list. Most of the

         17  parents calling our program looking for child care

         18  are most concerned about being able to afford child

         19  care.

         20                 The cost, the average cost of child

         21  care in New York City is $6,000 and above. That, for

         22  many families, means that they are making the choice

         23  between working or being employed or being on public

         24  assistance.

         25                 So, we find that many parents call us
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          2  in crisis that they are looking for a service that

          3  is going to not only affect the health and welfare

          4  of the individual child, but actually impacts the

          5  overall life of the family and their ability to

          6  sustain the quality of life in the whole family.

          7                 Our concern, since we talk to parents

          8  on a daily basis, lead us to a couple of I think

          9  really important conclusions. One is that not only

         10  is the delivery system in New York City complex, it

         11  does not meet the needs of families in New York

         12  City.

         13                 We have passed a bill for -- we have

         14  passed legislation for universal pre-k in New York

         15  City, and it is in its second year of

         16  implementation. We must seriously look at universal

         17  child care in New York City.

         18                 As we look at how men and women are

         19  part of the workforce, we don't foresee any changes

         20  in the numbers of people who are joining the work

         21  force, we don't see any changes in the next

         22  millennium, in the numbers of women who will be

         23  staying at home. In fact, we see increasing numbers

         24  of men and women who will be in the work force and

         25  unable to provide primary care for their children at
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          2  home.

          3                 Child care, in all its forms, whether

          4  it is informal child care, regulated care, family

          5  day care, school-aged care, is critical to the life

          6  of New York's families. Without a consolidated,

          7  coordinated effort for both planning, expansion, and

          8  funding, we will be at these hearings in the next

          9  millennium having the same conversations about the

         10  need for child care.

         11                 I am relatively new to New York City,

         12  since 1983, but I have been involved in child care

         13  since 1972. It is beyond my imagination that here

         14  today I sit in front of this Committee saying things

         15  that I have heard and experienced for over 20 years,

         16  and that the will is there to make strides on the

         17  question of child care but that we approach it in a

         18  neighborhood by neighborhood, parent by parent,

         19  agency by agency kind of approach. This means that

         20  we are still operating as if we were in the early

         21  part of the century as opposed to in an era where we

         22  know that the life of New York's families is

         23  inextricably bound to our ability to provide a

         24  coordinated and organized system of child care.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you
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          2  very much. You have been here since the 1980s, the

          3  people running HRA have been here since, for three

          4  years maybe, two years, I think you are a long

          5  established resident.

          6                 I would like to ask the attorneys, it

          7  seems to me there is a similarity between the things

          8  that we are reading about food stamps and the job

          9  centers dispensing the adequate information as

         10  required by the regulations and the information that

         11  is being given to recipients about child care

         12  regulations.

         13                 Is that a fair assumption?

         14                 MS. LIGHT: I have worked on the job

         15  center cases as well, and I think that that is a

         16  fair assumption. I mean of course there are some

         17  differences in how it is handled, and I think a lot

         18  of it does come down to the actual worker on the

         19  street that is either not knowing or not caring to

         20  give people the information about their rights to

         21  either apply for food stamps, apply for child care,

         22  or not to be sanctioned for child care. And it is a

         23  tremendous problem because when people hear that and

         24  they know that they are going to stay with the

         25  program and to continue receiving benefits, they are
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          2  going to have to find a place to keep their kid and

          3  they don't have a place, maybe they don't even come

          4  back for that second appointment, who knows how many

          5  families that affects. Forget about the families

          6  that just continue to get misinformation, but the

          7  families who we don't know how they then support

          8  their families.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So when you

         10  are called in to a job center and you have children,

         11  are you handed a piece of information that says if

         12  your children are under the age of so and so you do

         13  not have to go to work?

         14                 MS. LIGHT: No, absolutely not.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So that is

         16  missing.

         17                 Do they say that you have to be given

         18  two formal day care referrals, two day care

         19  referrals?

         20                 MS. LIGHT: I think if you call a

         21  resource and referral they will tell you that. At

         22  the job centers I don't think they will tell you

         23  that. It is certainly not standard, at least in

         24  reality, that families find out that information by

         25  showing up at a job site.
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          2                 MS. WADSWORTH: Our experience with

          3  job centers, we collaborate closely with Job and

          4  BEGIN centers, both providing on-site counselors, as

          5  well as other kinds of collaboration. They do refer

          6  to the child care resource and referrals and in many

          7  cases they do give some listings. I think the issue

          8  is that the process for parents to really do

          9  planning for child care requires more than just a

         10  name and a telephone number, that there are a lot of

         11  issues that are involved in the decision-making

         12  process, and that planning process is what is really

         13  lacking.

         14                 So, even if parents are given two

         15  choices, often times how to then access the subsidy

         16  dollars or the steps that have to be taken require a

         17  much more in-depth kind of counseling and

         18  face-to-face or at least person to person process.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And if I am

         20  the woman who is called in, I am getting public

         21  assistance now I assume, right? I am a TANF

         22  recipient, and I have been called to go to work and

         23  I have children; how long is it before I am given a

         24  work assignment? How long am I given to make child

         25  care arrangements?
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          2                 MS. LIGHT: Well, this is the problem

          3  that depends on the worker. There is no requirement

          4  that a parent has to find child care in any

          5  particular period of time, but workers at the BEGIN

          6  centers call people in for appointments, the parent

          7  comes in and says I have two kinds under age 13 who

          8  I need child care for and the person says well here

          9  is a list of three places that I think might be in

         10  your neighborhood, go check them out and come back

         11  in five days and if you haven't found something, you

         12  know, or a week or whatever period of time they make

         13  up on the spot, and then they say if you haven't

         14  found something by then, you know, you might lose

         15  your benefits. And then the person, you know maybe

         16  goes to those three places can't find something,

         17  comes back, and depending on the worker they say,

         18  well, you didn't look hard enough. You are going to

         19  get sanctioned. Or they don't have two referrals, so

         20  they say here is five more places, go look and come

         21  back in another week.

         22                 So, it is kind of, in my experience

         23  the people coming to me, it depends on the worker

         24  what happens. But there aren't any regulations that

         25  say a person has to be given this long to look or
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          2  they have to find something within five days, but --

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Then if I am

          4  a WEP worker and I have a WEP assignment and I made

          5  informal child care arrangements and my caretaker,

          6  the children's caretaker is sick and therefore can't

          7  do it and I have to stay home, what happens?

          8                 MS. STUBBS: Well, I have clients with

          9  the same problem also. This happens all the time.

         10  Then the person is forced to take informal care

         11  because they can't find anything else in such a

         12  short period of time and then of course informal

         13  care falls through so the person has to stay home

         14  and watch their kids and they call up their BEGIN

         15  center and they say I can't come to my WEP

         16  assignment today because my child care fell through

         17  and they say, okay, fine, stay at home, wait for a

         18  letter. The letter is for a conciliation, they are

         19  going to be sanctioned, and then the parent goes

         20  into a fair hearing, they always lose a

         21  conciliation, it is my experience, and they lose at

         22  their fair hearing also.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And what is

         24  the length of time that this process takes?

         25                 MS. STUBBS: From the time they miss

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            87

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  the assignment to conciliation, two weeks, and then

          3  another four weeks.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how many

          5  days of work do they lose before they get a letter?

          6                 MS. STUBBS: One.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: One day and

          8  they say don't come back tomorrow, stay home.

          9                 MS. STUBBS: One day and you lose your

         10  benefits, until you are willing to comply the first

         11  time three months, or until you are willing to

         12  comply a second time, six months. It's a long time.

         13  And then you also lose any enhancements you have in

         14  rent subsidies, such as JIGGETS. So a lot of parents

         15  face homelessness for just one single occurrence

         16  like this.

         17                 And they are not supposed to be

         18  sanctioned. And they are supposed to be able to go

         19  to their fair hearing and say I couldn't go to my

         20  WEP assignment because I didn't have child care. The

         21  problem is that the way that the law is set up, the

         22  parents have to demonstrate that they didn't have

         23  child care and that was the reason why they weren't

         24  participating with their work assignment. But the

         25  regulations that tell them how to demonstrate that
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          2  aren't out yet, so the ALJ is just kind of saying

          3  well, if you don't have a letter from somebody

          4  saying you couldn't be at your WEP assignment then

          5  you are going to be sanctioned.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Have you

          7  brought any suits about this?

          8                 MS. STUBBS: I am working on an appeal

          9  on a case that that exact thing happened right now.

         10  But the problem is there is just no guidance.

         11                 MS. LIGHT: One of the things that, we

         12  brought this up in a meeting with the

         13  Administration, you know, how are they making their

         14  decisions in these cases where they are sanctioning

         15  people and the Administration said, well, you know,

         16  the state hasn't done their regulations yet so what

         17  can we do? They didn't explain how they make the

         18  decisions, but I think that what is important is,

         19  that is a problem with the state and we are trying

         20  to address that with the state as well, but the City

         21  is making these decisions. Somehow or another the

         22  Administration is sanctioning people.

         23                 Now, if they don't have guidance from

         24  the state, they should have guidance from their own

         25  administration, and although we haven't heard that
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          2  they don't, if they don't every decision they make

          3  is arbitrary, and that is a big due process problem

          4  under the constitution, and I think that can't be

          5  the fall back answer of the Administration, that we

          6  are waiting for the state, okay, then don't sanction

          7  anyone until you get the regulations from the state,

          8  that is the reply, and that is not what is

          9  happening.

         10                 MS. STUBBS: That's exactly right.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Council

         12  Member Watkins has joined us from Queens.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you,

         14  Madame Chair.

         15                 One thing that I didn't hear

         16  addressed because we are primarily concentrating on

         17  the clients' need for child care, but one of the

         18  problems I have encountered numerous times over the

         19  years has been from providers in local communities

         20  where because of the system, when they -- and I am

         21  confused as to which is which, but the City is

         22  supposed to provide subsidies or vouchers or

         23  something, the child is placed in a day care

         24  facility with the understanding between the parent

         25  and the City agency and the day care facility that
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          2  this facility will be paid X amount per week or per

          3  month for the care of this child.

          4                 The City does not pay in a timely

          5  fashion, the City sometimes allows bills that go up

          6  into the thousands of dollars to accumulate,

          7  especially if there are two children from one

          8  family. Day care providers who are in business and

          9  have to meet all of the City and State requirements

         10  then appeal for assistance because they don't want

         11  to put the kids out but they have a waiting list for

         12  potentially paying clients, the City has been

         13  petitioned and they promise but they do not come

         14  through. Then in some cases they pay part of what is

         15  owed.

         16                 Have you been addressing any of this?

         17  Because I remember one, I don't know why the numbers

         18  just stand out, it was approximately a $4,000 bill

         19  for two children that had accumulated, and when the

         20  City finally did pay after many months, they sent a

         21  check to the day care for $1,800. This also

         22  endangers parents of losing their care.

         23                 Have you been able to address that?

         24  Or do you have any recommendation as to what we

         25  might do to help deal with this?
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          2                 MS. WADSWORTH: Well, let me I guess

          3  try to speak to, I think there are obviously

          4  different payment agents to the City. Through the

          5  Agency for Child Development there are vouchers

          6  available. Those vouchers have been frozen I guess

          7  for about a year and a half or so. But the payment

          8  there usually is fairly timely.

          9                 Through OES, the Office of Employment

         10  Services, those payments to family day care

         11  providers, for instance, before went to the parent

         12  as part of a cash grant and then in the last period

         13  has gone directly to the provider as a vendor

         14  payment.

         15                 About three, four months ago, the

         16  Office of Employment Services made available finally

         17  some people who would help providers facilitate, do

         18  some troubleshooting with those issues.

         19                 But, frankly, often times the final

         20  solution is that the provider is told to go to Small

         21  Claims Court and the reason for that is that the

         22  parent has been found ineligible during different

         23  periods and so even though the provider continues to

         24  provide care, the parent was deemed ineligible by

         25  OES and no payment was forthcoming. And the solution
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          2  from OES is for the provider to take the parent to

          3  Small Claims Court.

          4                 This is the parent who has lost

          5  benefits, this is the parent who is not employed,

          6  this is the parent who has also lost care now, and

          7  this is from the provider, who as you noted in one

          8  case, up to $4,000 in care has been provided.

          9                 We should be very clear that while we

         10  pin our hopes on family day care as an area of

         11  expansion in New York City, that it is family day

         12  care that is in fact subsidizing the welfare reform

         13  program in New York City. Family day care providers

         14  do that by charging very low prices for family day

         15  care. They do it by providing care sometimes at no

         16  cost because of the hours needed by people who are

         17  participating in programs. And you know, their

         18  flexibility and their attempt to support families

         19  who are making the effort to make the transition is

         20  absolutely unheralded.

         21                 So, we really need to look at, as we

         22  look at them to rescue in a sense the City in its

         23  efforts for expansion, we have to look at they have

         24  really not received any benefit for the work that

         25  they have done to provide care for this population
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          2  today.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          4                 Thank you, Council Member.

          5                 Okay, thank you all very much. I

          6  apologize that I had to step away, but anyone who

          7  knows, again, the work of this Committee knows that

          8  all of the members are full participants, we have a

          9  joint hearing today with two committees and many of

         10  my colleagues are here, all of the material is used

         11  as we continue our work. It was only the most

         12  serious of issues that pulled me out of the Chamber.

         13  But, again, let me extend thanks from Council Member

         14  Eldridge and my colleagues to all of you.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 Okay, now, before we hear from the

         17  Administration we are going to hear from the

         18  Citizens Committee for Children, as a third

         19  scheduled witness. And, again, I know there have

         20  been a lot of discussions about the unmet needs in

         21  terms of the kind of changing hours and the kind of

         22  geography, you know, where services are needed and

         23  difficulty of this last panel in accessing the

         24  services and all the complications. But if you

         25  really take an overall look at this issue and why
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          2  both committees are here, you have to address the

          3  issue of the split in how child care, how it is

          4  provided and from which agencies it is provided. So,

          5  you have OES, a part of the HRA Administration,

          6  providing -- with a certain budget, providing child

          7  care such that it is to an increasing number of

          8  welfare mothers who are required to engage in work

          9  activities and so on. You have ACD, part of the

         10  Administration for Children's Services providing to

         11  a set of recipients, including working poor, some

         12  welfare recipients and the like and a whole host of

         13  day care services, and more often than not the more

         14  traditional licensed regulated care and other

         15  variations. You have interesting questions of

         16  budget, there is an enormous budget at ACD, a

         17  smaller budget at OES, yet the needs at OES seem to

         18  be driving itself through the roof, what is going to

         19  happen, what is the borrowing, the pushing and the

         20  pulling.

         21                 Now, that is not to suggest that

         22  these two advocates are the folks to question about

         23  all of that, the agency will be here. We invited

         24  both agencies to testify. We wanted both agencies so

         25  that you could see this kind of back and forth. I
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          2  understand that one person is going to provide

          3  testimony on behalf of both agencies. That may or

          4  may not be adequate, we will listen intently and

          5  then decide if it is adequate to continue, if it is

          6  not adequate to resume with our original intent,

          7  which is to have both agencies physically present at

          8  the witness table, but we will cross that bridge

          9  when we come to it.

         10                 So it wasn't meant to say that we are

         11  going to question you extensively because it is not

         12  your responsibility, but rather welcome you to shed

         13  what light you can on this big picture, including

         14  these questions of, for example, as things shift are

         15  we simply pushing and pulling the same amount of

         16  money or are we truly expanding the day care

         17  universe and so on. And I am sure that is a lot of

         18  what you will tell us.

         19                 Welcome, I direct your attention to

         20  Counsel to the Committee and then we will begin.

         21                 MS. LEVIN: Please raise your right

         22  hand.

         23                 Do you swear that the testimony you

         24  are about to present is the truth, the whole truth

         25  and nothing but the truth?
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          2                 MS. McMATH: I do.

          3                 MS. ANELLO: I do.

          4                 MS. LEVIN: If each of you could state

          5  your name and affiliation for the record.

          6                 MS. McMATH: My name is Lavita McMath.

          7  I am Staff Associate for Education and Child Care at

          8  the Citizens Committee for Children.

          9                 MS. ANELLO: I am Rose Anello,

         10  Associate Executive Director at Citizens Committee

         11  for Children.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, we need

         13  you to take the mic real close, and remember when

         14  the light is off the mic is on, and speak up.

         15                 Unlike other folks, I don't mind how

         16  loud you speak.

         17                 MS. McMATH: Good afternoon. My name

         18  is Lavita McMath, and I am the Staff Associate for

         19  Child Care and Education at Citizens Committee for

         20  Children of New York.

         21                 I want to thank Councilman DiBrienza

         22  and Councilwoman Eldridge for holding this hearing,

         23  and for giving the Citizens Committee for Children

         24  the opportunity to express our views on this

         25  important subject.
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          2                 When the Mayor created the

          3  Administration for Children's Services in 1996, he

          4  consolidated child welfare, child care, and Head

          5  Start into one agency, recognizing that each

          6  provided service is necessary to support family

          7  life.

          8                 The Mayor was right then and we

          9  supported his decision. In his State of the City

         10  Message last week, Mayor Giuliani changed course and

         11  proposed transferring more responsibility for child

         12  care to the Human Resources Administration to ensure

         13  that welfare families get more timely access to

         14  child care assistance.

         15                 We have no quarrel with his goal,

         16  that families get the quickest access of child care

         17  subsidies, so that their work life is not

         18  interrupted.

         19                 However, we take exception to his

         20  approach. It redirects subsidies away from

         21  low-income working families who are not dependent on

         22  welfare and out-of-pocket fees to offset the cost of

         23  care, to equally needy families on welfare.

         24                 In our view, the Mayor has got it

         25  backwards. He is trying to fix a problem of access
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          2  without addressing the real problem of capacity.

          3                 It is not simply a matter of moving

          4  the subsidies from one agency to another, the real

          5  problem is that no one at City Hall is attending to

          6  the child care crisis, which is rampant in our City.

          7                 Ask any New Yorker what they need for

          8  their children and a vast majority would tell you

          9  that they need affordable, safe child care so that

         10  they can work, from all the research, from public

         11  opinion polls, from meetings with parents, I can

         12  tell you that child care is the family issue of New

         13  York City today.

         14                 There is no question that families on

         15  welfare need access to quality-based child care to

         16  meet the three or five-day period a HRA worker gives

         17  them before they are to begin work experience

         18  activities. But it is equally true that low-income

         19  working families, many of whom are formal welfare

         20  recipients now working and independent from

         21  government aid, and those who prefer to tough it out

         22  on low wages and set up turning to the government

         23  for aid also need access to safe quality child care.

         24                 This child care crisis cannot be

         25  solved by pitting equally needy groups of families
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          2  against each other for subsidies. It is ridiculous

          3  in the extreme to create a competition over child

          4  care when the resources are there to expand the

          5  available pool of subsidies. The debate should not

          6  be which agency needs more vouchers or which should

          7  distribute the City's child care resources, it

          8  should instead focus on how do we get more

          9  resources.

         10                 While the transfer of vouchers from

         11  ACS to HRA will provide a quick fix for workfare

         12  recruits, it does nothing to help families who are

         13  already working maintain their jobs nor does it

         14  ensure stable child care arrangements for families

         15  transitioning from welfare to work.

         16                 As a matter of public policy, this

         17  plan is misguided because it provides exactly the

         18  wrong incentives. The plan says that you have to be

         19  on welfare to get a subsidy for child care instead

         20  of rewarding low wage earning working families for

         21  doing their best to avoid welfare in the first

         22  place.

         23                 This voucher of transfer provides New

         24  York City with one more crisis service. Like the

         25  shelter, child welfare and juvenile justice system,
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          2  it requires that families hit rock bottom before

          3  they are provided with support services.

          4                 If the Mayor is really serious about

          5  the City's work force, everybody works philosophy,

          6  then the priorities and policies that flow from it

          7  have to be consistent.

          8                 There are alternatives to the

          9  proposal that is on the table. The City is not 100

         10  percent responsible for meeting the child care needs

         11  of New Yorkers. The responsibility is already shared

         12  with the state and federal government. And to its

         13  credit, New York City has made and continues to make

         14  a substantial investment in child care using its own

         15  tax levy resources.

         16                 However, the federal government has

         17  recently increased its responsibility for child care

         18  by making it possible to meet the child care needs

         19  of more New Yorkers by allowing TANF money, savings

         20  from caseload reduction, performance bonuses and

         21  federal welfare to work grants to pay for child care

         22  subsidies.

         23                 The new federal policy also

         24  recognizes the relationship between affordable child

         25  care and welfare caseloads and allow federal TANF
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          2  block grant funds to be used to provide child care

          3  subsidies for families earning up to 85 percent of

          4  the State median income, which is approximately 275

          5  percent of the federal poverty level, in order to

          6  break their cycle of dependency, basically

          7  incorporating welfare and low-income working

          8  families into one eligible group.

          9                 Unfortunately, the state has failed

         10  to deliver on the federal government promise of

         11  child care, and precipitated a severe child care

         12  crisis in large urban areas.

         13                 However, we hear that the Governor

         14  recognizes the seriousness of child care situations

         15  and is prepared to address it in his budget. We

         16  don't know how much or for how many child care will

         17  be provided, but we expect Governor Pataki's budget

         18  to include child care expansion funds.

         19                 The Mayor's child care proposal is

         20  premature. Before making any changes in the

         21  allocation of subsidies between City agencies, the

         22  Mayor should wait to see what is in the Governor's

         23  budget.

         24                 The City must also produce a better

         25  estimate of child care needs of all New Yorkers
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          2  earning under 85 percent of the state median income

          3  to ascertain the actual number of families who need

          4  subsidies.

          5                 Remember that families and government

          6  will be partners here, with families paying

          7  out-of-pocket fees that offset the government's

          8  cost.

          9                 New York City has dropped the ball on

         10  child care and it has not kept pace with federal

         11  policy. While we leave the nation's largest workfare

         12  program, we lag far behind in recognizing and

         13  implementing a parallel child care initiative that

         14  can sustain our work first/everybody works policies

         15  necessary for welfare to work efforts to succeed.

         16                 Quality child care must be available

         17  and affordable to all families who need it. We urge

         18  the City Council to work with the Mayor to fix the

         19  problem of access and capacity, and to improve on

         20  work first/everybody works to everybody works,

         21  everybody has access to child care, everybody pays

         22  for child care and every child has a quality child

         23  care experience. We believe this is the only way to

         24  solve the City's child care crisis, we offer you the

         25  child care that works program for New York City.
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          2                 MS. ANELLO: I am just going to

          3  quickly take you through some numbers that we have

          4  taken a very close look at.

          5                 Our child care early learning

          6  proposal seeks to provide care to all New York City

          7  children five years of age and under in working and

          8  welfare to work families, and it proposes that the

          9  City raise the income eligibility standard for child

         10  care from 200 percent of the federal poverty level

         11  to 275 percent, as the federal government allows its

         12  funds to be spent.

         13                 Our analysis details the number of

         14  children in both categories currently served in

         15  subsidized OES or ACD care, pre-kindergarten, Head

         16  Start and because we include five-year-olds --

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Can you just

         18  go a little slower? You are going too fast for me.

         19                 MS. ANELLO: Okay.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You have

         21  lost me already.

         22                 MS. ANELLO: You know what, it would

         23  also help if you turned to this page.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am, all

         25  right? Okay.
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          2                 MS. ANELLO: It considers that for

          3  some children enrolled in these programs and living

          4  in mother employed or welfare to work families part

          5  day care might still be needed.

          6                 What you have attached to our written

          7  testimony is several pages of numbers. The last

          8  three are a very detailed analysis of how we arrived

          9  at our proposal. And if you turn to this page I can

         10  just walk you through it fairly quickly.

         11                 The first category talks about the

         12  current eligibility standards of New York City's

         13  child care program, families earning under 200

         14  percent of the federal poverty level.

         15                 The numbers to the right show how

         16  many children under the federal poverty level in

         17  welfare to work families or in families where

         18  mothers are working, how many children, zero to

         19  five, are eligible for child care, 140,000.

         20                 The next number, 95,000, is how many

         21  children we serve. Remember, in all of those, pre-k,

         22  kindergarten, OES and ACD and Head Start.

         23                 The last number, 44,000, how many

         24  children currently are eligible and not served at

         25  all.
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          2                 The next category is our proposal --

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Excuse me.

          4  Just also for the sake of everybody, the federal

          5  poverty, 200 percent of the federal poverty level is

          6  a family with an income under 27,000.

          7                 MS. ANELLO: Right, under $27,000 a

          8  year. And the numbers, the dollar amounts are based

          9  on what the average cost of child care in New York

         10  City is, which is $6,200 a year per child for all

         11  forms of care. It includes the range.

         12                 The proposal that we are making is to

         13  raise the eligibility level again to 275 percent of

         14  the poverty level, which would be for a family of

         15  three $37,000 a year.

         16                 And there are only a small number of

         17  children, relatively speaking, that fall into this

         18  category in families where they are zero to five

         19  years of age, where the mothers are working, and the

         20  total number of children is 5,000. Nineteen-hundred

         21  of these children are already in again either pre-k,

         22  kindergarten, OES and ACD.

         23                 That leaves 3,000 children who do not

         24  receive any form of care.

         25                 Okay, the total cost of our proposal,
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          2  if we are going to cover all of the children in all

          3  categories currently eligible, and if we raise the

          4  eligibility level to what federal guidelines allow

          5  us to spend federal money on, we would be -- the

          6  cost would be about $296 million. It's a big cost,

          7  but we propose that it be phased in over a period of

          8  years and that this year we allocate $29 million to

          9  cover, to begin to phase in a universal child care

         10  program in New York City that would cover children

         11  and families earning under 275 percent of the

         12  poverty level.

         13                 We also propose co-payments. And the

         14  proposal is based on the premise that everybody

         15  works, every pays for child care, every child is

         16  provided with a quality child care experience.

         17                 The co-payment system should not be

         18  regressive, prohibitive, or as in Wisconsin,

         19  discourage families from using quality subsidized

         20  child care.

         21                 This program proposes that no more

         22  than ten percent of a family's income should be

         23  required as co-payments. And there are many states

         24  around the country that have co-payment schedules

         25  where it could happen.
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          2                 Our current system is regressive.

          3  Families with income at the poverty level, which is

          4  13,000, pay $9 a week. The co-payment for families

          5  earning twice the poverty level pay more than eight

          6  times that amount, which is $73 a week.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Thank

          8  you.

          9                 MS. ANELLO: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you

         11  both.

         12                 Let's just try to wrap up this

         13  section, there may be a question, I don't know. Let

         14  me just review one part of what you are both saying.

         15                 In terms of the narrative testimony,

         16  essentially I believe what I am hearing and one of

         17  the things you are raising is that there is a real

         18  question as to whether we are expanding day care,

         19  the provision of day care, that is to say spending

         20  more money, creating more opportunities, serving

         21  more children, whichever phrase you want to use, or

         22  whether we are simply shifting resources back and

         23  forth between two agencies, and as you put it, two

         24  needy populations. Am I hearing the narrative

         25  correctly?
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          2                 MS. ANELLO: Absolutely. That was

          3  pretty clear from the Mayor's State of the City, he

          4  uses the words "reallocation of vouchers".

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. So,

          6  rather than expansion to meet the growing need, you

          7  sense that there is a kind of shifting back and

          8  forth. So I think that is the first question we

          9  ultimately will have for the agencies.

         10                 Now, when you move from this

         11  narrative that makes a second point, and let me see

         12  if I understand it. That working families, some of

         13  whom, maybe many of whom were once on welfare but

         14  are now working, it is kind of almost ironic, I

         15  don't know if you use the word ironic, that this

         16  struggling set of folks here in the City might see

         17  less of an ability to have child care, day care, as

         18  the mandated, you know, workfare child care

         19  supports, increase, kind of may be causing them to

         20  slip back into welfare.

         21                 MR. ANELLO: No question about that. I

         22  think the testimony that came before us, you know,

         23  in their testimony it was clear.

         24                 Last week Citizens Committee for

         25  Children and the Children's Defense Fund sponsored a
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          2  town meeting in Albany. About 50 parents from New

          3  York City rode the bus to Albany with us and family

          4  after family talked to us about how it was much

          5  easier to get child care while they were on welfare,

          6  rather than when they were off welfare. And even

          7  families that were trying to make the transition,

          8  they weren't told, number one, that there was

          9  transitional child care benefits available, and then

         10  when they got off of welfare they were fearful that

         11  they wouldn't be able to get it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         13                 And then thirdly, before I wrap up my

         14  little section, in addition to the transition, do

         15  you have a sense, and I don't know that it comes

         16  through in the narrative or the numbers, that in

         17  fact as the need on the OES welfare recipient side

         18  continues to grow because of the mandates of

         19  workfare, and all anecdotal evidence seems to

         20  indicate that more and more people take informal

         21  care, some would argue because that is how they are

         22  steered and directed and not really given the

         23  opportunities to make other choices, others would

         24  argue that this is an empowerment decision that

         25  people make for themselves. I have actually heard
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          2  that argument, I don't quite understand it. But in

          3  any event is part of what is happening, since there

          4  is no expansion, a kind of emphasis to cover more

          5  people with the same amount of money by forcing them

          6  to take this informal care?

          7                 MS. ANELLO: It is cheaper, it is

          8  quicker. You know, what choice does a mother have

          9  when she is told lose your welfare check or put your

         10  kid in child care and report to work.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That is, and

         12  by the way the telling statistic on that, if we have

         13  all heard it at our hearings, I don't know if I am

         14  going to quote it exactly right so I will use the

         15  phrase approximately - approximately 80 percent of

         16  the folks who traditionally are involved with ACD

         17  end up in licensed regulated care in one form or

         18  another, whereas when you go to OES, roughly 80

         19  percent opt for this informal care. There is no

         20  particular sort of scientific reason I could, I

         21  don't think anyone could wrap their hands around as

         22  to say why in a sampling of folks involved in the

         23  welfare system, formerly involved, currently

         24  struggling with work, why there should be such a

         25  divergence. We appreciate that.
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          2                 Now, let me move quickly to one last

          3  question on the numbers. I don't want to be guilty

          4  of taking up too much time.

          5                 You are suggesting here on this chart

          6  that if every welfare to work family or mother

          7  employed family with income, you know, that 200

          8  percent were to be served, it would be 140,000 kids

          9  as we sit here today?

         10                 MS. ANELLO: Right.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And we all

         12  know that we happen to serve 95,000 and change and

         13  that is how you come up with the number of children

         14  if we could snap our fingers who needed service,

         15  that would be the number.

         16                 MS. ANELLO: Yes.

         17                 Again, that includes -- we are

         18  considering that children in kindergarten and

         19  pre-kindergarten are served, however, part of their

         20  day is unserved. And so the calculation considers

         21  three-quarters of the day served, one-quarter of the

         22  day not served.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right. But I

         24  just want to account for how you get the numbers,

         25  once you raise the income level it adds a few more
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          2  but --

          3                 MS. ANELLO: Right. Not many.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Not many.

          5                 MS. ANELLO: But some.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But it

          8  doesn't include women who might work if they had day

          9  care availability.

         10                 MS. ANELLO: It does not include women

         11  who might work.

         12                 It includes a take-up rate, women who

         13  -- you know, these are all the numbers. Again, I am

         14  not going to the very detailed analysis but that

         15  analysis includes the total number of children with

         16  a take-up rate of how many children, how many

         17  mothers are likely to use subsidized care.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I appreciate

         19  it. It is not just a set of numbers, it is part of a

         20  large proposal which is not necessarily the direct

         21  subject today, but of course it begins to open the

         22  door for us as two joint committees on a way to, you

         23  know, a view, a way to go, a concept, actually a

         24  proposal. We will have to review it in detail. We

         25  will have staff review it in detail. So we
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          2  appreciate your adding that to the testimony, having

          3  made some of the points that we just exchanged, on

          4  the narrative this is also helpful so thank you.

          5                 MS. ANELLO: Thanks, Councilman. And I

          6  just want to say that the numbers and the proposals

          7  are important today, simply because the Mayor cannot

          8  embark on the nation's largest welfare to work

          9  effort without this parallel initiative. They go

         10  hand-in-hand, everybody here has acknowledged that,

         11  and we haven't seen that happen.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you, we

         13  appreciate that. From day one this Committee and

         14  each of its members have always indicated and said

         15  this phrase so many times that I think people are

         16  sick of hearing it, but that ultimately if welfare

         17  to work initiatives are to be successful there are

         18  really two things you need, a job and child care,

         19  licensed, affordable, quality child care. And we

         20  said that from the first day we met and we will

         21  continue to say that until we penetrate the system.

         22                 Thank you very much.

         23                 MS. ANELLO: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, the

         25  Administration person is here. We invited
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          2  Commissioner Turner and Commissioner Scoppetta. We

          3  thought this hearing was designed to talk about the

          4  broadest possible policy implications and the

          5  coordination between the agencies as we are

          6  coordinating between our committees, and questions

          7  of the highest level policy of the highest level,

          8  and so since they are the respective commissioners,

          9  we had hoped that they would be here for each of

         10  their top deputies perhaps, but I understand that

         11  the Administration has sent one person to testify.

         12  Let me see if I have this right, I don't know who it

         13  is, I can't read it. Kay Hendon. Okay, why don't you

         14  join us.

         15                 You are the Director of Child Care

         16  for HRA in OES?

         17                 MS. HENDON: No, I am not in OES.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What exactly

         19  is your title?

         20                 MS. HENDON: Child care liaison. I am

         21  in the Commissioner's Office.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So you are

         23  from Commissioner -- which Commissioner? Let's start

         24  with that?

         25                 MS. HENDON: Turner.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You are from

          3  Commissioner Turner's office, and what is your

          4  title?

          5                 MS. HENDON: Child Care Liaison.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Child Care

          7  Liaison, and what are your duties and

          8  responsibilities, before we get to the --

          9                 MS. HENDON: I am here. I came here

         10  last fall to oversee HRA's child care planning and

         11  implementation for welfare reform.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am sorry,

         13  did you come with the Commissioner from Wisconsin?

         14                 MS. HENDON: I came afterwards, but I

         15  am from Wisconsin.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You were part

         17  of his operations out there?

         18                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         20                 Now, ACD, which is the Agency for

         21  Child Development, which is part of the

         22  Administration for Children's Services, has a budget

         23  and a whole universe of child care that it provides,

         24  so that is not your jurisdiction or responsibility.

         25                 MS. HENDON: No.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, I see the

          3  Mayor's legislative person in the front row, who is

          4  going to be able to speak to ACD's role in this

          5  child care universe that we seek to talk about

          6  today.

          7                 MS. HENDON: This testimony was put

          8  together by both agencies and addresses ACD's role.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am sorry, I

         10  can't hear you. This is just preliminary, you don't

         11  have to be sworn in. Just answer it.

         12                 MS. HENDON: We put the testimony

         13  together with ACD, so we will report on some ACD

         14  information for you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, who is in

         16  charge at ACD?

         17                 MS. HENDON: Maria Vandor.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I can't hear

         19  you.

         20                 MS. HENDON: Maria Vandor.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And she is in

         22  charge of the day care operations out of ACD?

         23                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, so she

         25  is not here.
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          2                 MS. HENDON: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do we know why

          4  she is not here? I am talking to the Mayor's

          5  representative.

          6                 MS. FEINSTEIN: Elisa Feinstein from

          7  the Mayor's Office of Legislative Affairs.

          8                 The testimony was written by both

          9  agencies, Kay will address ACS, ACD issues as well

         10  as she can. No one is here from ACS or ACD. If you

         11  have further questions, we will report back to you

         12  at a later date.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: The money

         14  appropriated to ACD is how much money for child

         15  care?

         16                 MS. HENDON: It is approximately $350

         17  million, I believe.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how much

         19  money is appropriated to HRA?

         20                 MS. HENDON: This year $77 million.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So there is

         22  quite a significant difference in that it is not a

         23  parallel significance then as to who becomes the

         24  spokesperson for the City Administration on Child

         25  Care?
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          2                 MS. FEINSTEIN: HRA is taking the lead

          3  on this issue.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: On what

          5  issue, child care?

          6                 MS. FEINSTEIN: HRA is taking the lead

          7  on child care, on subsidized child care.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And ACD is

          9  also an agency who is concerned with subsidized

         10  child care?

         11                 MS. FEINSTEIN: Correct.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, ACD is

         13  now subservient to HRA?

         14                 MS. FEINSTEIN: No. The agencies are

         15  working together, but HRA is taking the lead. That

         16  is why HRA is testifying. If she could read her

         17  testimony and then answer further questions, I think

         18  that might be more appropriate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We appreciate

         20  that. So, why don't we set the record straight this

         21  way.

         22                 It is confusing as to why, since we

         23  went to great lengths to hold a joint hearing to

         24  make clear that we wanted to look at both

         25  components, and to see the interchange, why you
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          2  would choose not to have two people at the witness

          3  table, one from each agency making their lives a

          4  little easier, and being able to address and answer

          5  the questions a little more fully, number one.

          6                 Number two is, it is confusing as to

          7  why you would not send the agency responsible for

          8  $375 million, but only the agency responsible for

          9  the $60 million or $70 million.

         10                 Now, rather than adjourn the hearing

         11  until we get two people, we take your comments at

         12  face value and you say the testimony has been

         13  prepared by both, and while we don't want to be

         14  unfair to you, Ms. Hendon, we would like you to give

         15  the testimony and hopefully you can answer some of

         16  the questions.

         17                 It is not productive if you cannot

         18  answer the ACD side, even to the best of your

         19  ability, because then we would have to wait, write

         20  you letters, ask you for information, take you, the

         21  collective you, take forever to get back or never

         22  respond, which is the history.

         23                 So, we will try it, but I have to

         24  tell you at some point we may have to stop, recess

         25  and continue the hearing another day with the
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          2  appropriate folks. But let's see if we can get this

          3  accomplished.

          4                 So, why don't you direct your

          5  attention to the Counsel to the Committee, she

          6  addresses all witnesses who appear before my

          7  Committee, and in this case the joint committee, and

          8  then after that we will hear your testimony.

          9                 MS. LEVIN: Please raise your right

         10  hand.

         11                 Do you swear that the testimony you

         12  are about to provide is the truth, the whole truth

         13  and nothing but the truth?

         14                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         15                 MS. LEVIN: Please state your name and

         16  affiliation for the record.

         17                 MS. HENDON: My name is Kay Hendon. I

         18  am the Child Care Liaison person for the Human

         19  Resources Administration.

         20                 Good morning, Chairperson Eldridge,

         21  Chairperson DiBrienza, members of the Committees and

         22  Council members. As I have already said two times, I

         23  am Kay Hendon, Child Care Liaison for the Human

         24  Resources Administration. I am testifying today on

         25  behalf of both the Human Resources Administration,
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          2  HRA, and the Administration for Children's Services,

          3  Agency for Child Development, ACS, ACD.

          4                 I came to HRA last fall to oversee

          5  HRA's child care planning and implementation for

          6  welfare reform. Before joining HRA I was child care

          7  coordinator for the State of Wisconsin, where I

          8  developed State Child Care Plans and Programs.

          9                 I have been a child care professional

         10  for over 25 years and have experience in both the

         11  public and private sectors as a center director,

         12  child care resource and referral director and

         13  neighborhood center and after school director.

         14                 In Mayor Giuliani's recent State of

         15  the City Address, he made a commitment that HRA

         16  should have a sufficient number of in time day care

         17  vouchers at job centers so that people looking for

         18  employment could immediately be given the day care

         19  they need for their children. We intend to follow

         20  through on the Mayor's commitment.

         21                 Although we still do not have new

         22  state regulations governing the use of local, state

         23  and federal child care block grant funds, the law

         24  includes a guarantee of child care to public

         25  assistance families who are working towards
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          2  self-sufficiency and leaving welfare for work.

          3                 To date we have been able to provide

          4  child care funding for every one of these families,

          5  and we will continue to do so.

          6                 One of our highest priorities this

          7  year is creation of a single unified child care

          8  process that supports families in their work

          9  experience and their employment.

         10                 To carry out our welfare to work

         11  program, HRA intends to provide child care to

         12  eligible parents who come to job centers and who

         13  need child care to obtain employment or remain

         14  employed.

         15                 Parents who have left public

         16  assistance and continue to be eligible for child

         17  care after the 12-month transitional period will now

         18  continue to receive uninterrupted HRA child care

         19  assistance.

         20                 We are establishing a single child

         21  care process and payment system for HRA, with one

         22  set of eligibility rules, one set of intake and

         23  child authorization procedures and one set of

         24  payment policies.

         25                 This process will eliminate the need
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          2  for parents to reapply when their work status

          3  changes and will ensure continuity of child care as

          4  long as they are eligible.

          5                 To the extent possible under state

          6  and federal rules, HRA and ACS ACD are aligning our

          7  policies and procedures.

          8                 The newly developed child care

          9  information system will enable us to effectively

         10  manage the processing and payments for child care.

         11  The system now includes a database of ACS, ACD child

         12  care providers with capacity enrollment and vacancy

         13  information.

         14                 We plan to add other regulated

         15  providers, as well as informal providers to that

         16  database to make it a Citywide child care provider

         17  database to be shared among HRA, ACS, ACD, the

         18  Department of Health and child resource and referral

         19  agencies.

         20                 This information system will assure

         21  rapid child care access for public assistance

         22  families, and for those who only require child care

         23  services in order to avoid seeking public

         24  assistance.

         25                 Many families on public assistance
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          2  choose informal child care. Informal care may often

          3  be the best choice. We are committed to improving

          4  the fiscal health and safety accountability of

          5  informal care. To bring about these improvements, we

          6  will:

          7                 - issue child care payments directly

          8  to child care providers, including informal

          9  providers.

         10                 - hold orientation meetings for

         11  informal child care providers regarding HRA policies

         12  and basic health and safety information.

         13                 - explore requiring parents and

         14  informal providers to complete an attestation about

         15  the health and safety of the child care home and the

         16  caregiver. This approach is included in the draft

         17  State requirements.

         18                 - we will submit a proposal to the

         19  federal government to become a sponsor of the

         20  federal Child and Adult Care Food Program, CACFP,

         21  for informal providers.

         22                 This program, fully funded by the

         23  federal government, pays for the food served to

         24  children in informal care. It also will reimburse

         25  HRA for program and administrative expenses. It
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          2  requires that we conduct three annual home visits to

          3  providers that we monitor the menus served and that

          4  we report on children's attendance.

          5                 In conjunction with the CACFP, we

          6  will informal providers technical assistance in

          7  child care health and safety.

          8                 HRA and ACS/ACD are working

          9  collaboratively and with other public and private

         10  groups to focus supply development, the supply of

         11  child care on targeted areas and types of care where

         12  there is documented need.

         13                 Examples of the latter are

         14  infant/toddler care, and second and third shift

         15  care.

         16                 Our capacity-building efforts are in

         17  partnership with organizations where infrastructure

         18  and resources exist to support the increased

         19  capacity.

         20                 For example, two key HRA child care

         21  partnerships with the After School Corporation,

         22  TASC, which is developing after school care

         23  throughout the City and will pilot the HRA

         24  partnership in four schools and the Consortium for

         25  Worker Education, which is developing family child
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          2  care connected to day care centers.

          3                 We want to work closely with the

          4  Universal Pre-K program and with Head Start

          5  Programs. These programs should continue to be

          6  accessible for public assistance families who need

          7  full-day, full year care. They can provide high

          8  quality, full-day, full-year care by blending their

          9  funding with HRA child care reimbursement.

         10                 One joint project with ACS/ACD uses

         11  the expansion capacity of existing family child care

         12  networks to serve public assistance families who are

         13  having trouble finding child care.

         14                 One of our primary methods for

         15  addressing child care capacity will be local

         16  resource development teams. These teams, focused

         17  around Job Center areas, will meet regularly to

         18  identify specific unmet child care needs to develop

         19  strategies for addressing them.

         20                 The teams could include

         21  representatives from ACS/ACD, the Job Center, Child

         22  Research and Referral Agencies and other key

         23  neighborhood agencies.

         24                 HRA is developing a new focus on

         25  relationships with child care providers. We want
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          2  providers to understand our child care policies, and

          3  to work with us to address needs for additional

          4  child care.

          5                 We recently published a manual for

          6  licensed providers serving parents on public

          7  assistance. I have a copy with me.

          8                 We are launching a series of local

          9  meetings, provider dialogues between local HRA staff

         10  and providers.

         11                 HRA and ACS/ACD both want to ensure

         12  that parents have the information they need to make

         13  the best possible child care choices for their

         14  children.

         15                 We are developing information

         16  resources specifically aimed at parents leaving

         17  welfare for work. Printed materials and videos will

         18  be placed in waiting rooms at Job Centers and BEGIN

         19  centers. Newly developed fact sheets will be

         20  distributed by mail and in person by case workers.

         21  Our new streamlined procedures will be easier for

         22  parents to understand and to use.

         23                 Child care research and referral

         24  counselors are being placed at Job Centers and BEGIN

         25  centers to help parents who are having trouble
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          2  locating care.

          3                 HRA is developing more specific child

          4  care referral procedures and training for our own

          5  staff so that parents receive complete and

          6  consistent information about how to find and choose

          7  child care.

          8                 The number of children currently

          9  receiving child care through HRA is 24,313. The

         10  total number of children receiving child care

         11  services through ACS/ACD is 59,836.

         12                 Of the ACS/ACD total, 9,540 children

         13  from public assistance families receive care for

         14  work-related reasons. When combined with the HRA

         15  figure, there are a total of 33,853 children of

         16  parents in work-related activities being served.

         17  Sixty-two percent of them are in informal care.

         18                 Concerning the Targeted Voucher

         19  Program, ACS/ACD reports that vouchers issued in

         20  1997 were funded with one-time funding, and ACS/ACD

         21  spent up to the maximum amount available as long as

         22  the funding was there.

         23                 Recent funding has allowed ACS/ACD to

         24  expand its ongoing baseline for vouchers from 10,000

         25  children in 1997, to 15,508 as of December 3rd,
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          2  1998.

          3                 Of these children using vouchers, 81

          4  percent are in group care, ten percent are in family

          5  care, and nine percent in informal care.

          6                 Regarding the matter of attrition,

          7  each summer approximately one-third of all children

          8  in ACS/ACD programs leave the pre-school program

          9  because they graduate to elementary school. Many

         10  continue in after school programs. From May 1997,

         11  through May 1998, 28,109 children left contracted

         12  group and family day care programs, and 8,116

         13  children left voucher funded programs.

         14                 We are confident that welfare to work

         15  families will continue to receive child care

         16  assistance as needed, and that their access to all

         17  types of child care will increase.

         18                 We are improving on the current

         19  system by integrating and streamlining our child

         20  care procedures, increasing communication with

         21  parents and with providers and giving information

         22  for parents and child care providers and

         23  collaborating effectively to address specific child

         24  care needs.

         25                 I am now prepared to address any
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          2  questions you might have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do you know

          4  how many of the 24,313 children currently receiving

          5  child care through HRA receive informal care? That

          6  is to say if you don't add in the additional 10,000

          7  from ACD?

          8                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What is that

         10  percentage?

         11                 MS. HENDON: Eighty-seven percent.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Eighty-seven

         13  percent.

         14                 So, 87 percent of the people who only

         15  deal with HRA/OES are in informal care. When you add

         16  in the 10,000 who have historically been involved

         17  with ACD, that percentage drops to 62 percent; is

         18  that correct?

         19                 MS. HENDON: It's correct.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         21                 MS. HENDON: The families who come to

         22  an HRA center and ask for ACD care are referred

         23  there so --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I understand.

         25  It was a little surprising to see 62 percent of them
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          2  in informal care and now I understand why. It is 87

          3  percent of the folks you deal with exclusively drops

          4  to 62 percent when you add ACD. That is relevant

          5  because if ACD were here, and maybe you can answer

          6  this, do you know of the 59,800 that ACD handles, if

          7  you know the percentage in informal care?

          8                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What

         10  percentage is that?

         11                 MS. HENDON: It is three percent.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: It is three

         13  percent.

         14                 Does it strike you as odd that given

         15  the similarities, although not exactly the same

         16  population certainly there are some similarities in

         17  the populations that in one case 87 percent of the

         18  people end up in informal care than the other three

         19  percent end up, does that strike you as odd or

         20  something that need be researched or looked into?

         21                 MS. HENDON: First remember that if a

         22  parent comes into one of our offices and asks for

         23  ACD care, they are sent to ACD. So they comprise the

         24  9,500 and therefore our numbers appeared skewed

         25  because if they do not go to ACD, they stay in
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          2  informal care.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: All right, I

          4  understand. You want credit for those. Let's assume

          5  you got credit for it and you are down 62 percent;

          6  do you think it is odd that 62 percent of the

          7  combined populations that you touch are in informal

          8  care and three percent of the ACD are? I mean, it is

          9  the same question, 87 to three is just a more

         10  glaring example. The real issue here is whether or

         11  not your entire policy is designed to drive people

         12  to informal care because it saves you money.

         13                 MS. HENDON: As I told you, we are

         14  making a number of policy changes, to assure that we

         15  are giving parents the full range of choice and that

         16  we give some support to the informal providers.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Well, I

         18  only -- since there is no other evidence but the

         19  numbers, it is difficult to understand or accept a

         20  premise that people are given full and fair

         21  disclosure and reasonable chances to engage and to

         22  obtain license regulated day care, you know,

         23  educationally nurturing day care and the like, and

         24  87 percent of them pick informal care, unless there

         25  is enormous pressure to do so.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            133

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 I don't have evidence to suggest to

          3  you that it happens, I am just telling you that is

          4  what the numbers lead a reasonable person to

          5  conclude.

          6                 Which gets me to my second set of

          7  questions. Is it correct, in the Section 2 of your

          8  testimony, or 3, where you talk about accountability

          9  and stability of informal care, that in essence you

         10  want to do in New York what I read, from published

         11  accounts what I read you did in Wisconsin, which is

         12  essentially dismantle the traditional

         13  license-regulated unionized day care networks which

         14  as far as New York goes has been heralded as some of

         15  the best in the country and replace it with a

         16  network of informal providers who you then -- I am

         17  sorry -- give orientation meetings to, get some

         18  report from and do an attestation period to make

         19  sure they are not harming kids; is that essentially

         20  what I get out of this section? That is what I get

         21  out of it. Is there something different that you

         22  meant here?

         23                 MS. HENDON: You are wrong about what

         24  we did in Wisconsin.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.
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          2                 MS. HENDON: What we are doing here is

          3  somewhat different. We are making no changes in

          4  registered family day care at all.

          5                 We, in fact, using the methods that I

          6  described to you, the orientation meeting, for

          7  example, we hope to give informal providers more

          8  information about registered family child care and

          9  how they can do that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What about

         11  licensed regulated center based care?

         12                 MS. HENDON: Obviously the information

         13  that we give -- right now, as I think you know, we

         14  give parents the names of two regulated providers.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: See, I don't

         16  believe that you do anything but steer people to

         17  informal care because you stretch your dollars, and

         18  I don't believe, at least anecdotally I have been

         19  told this, and I don't believe that there is enough

         20  availability in licensed regulated care so that even

         21  if you gave them two names, they find no

         22  availability, so that means they are going to lose

         23  their welfare if they don't do something in five

         24  days, they have to make a rash decision and they go

         25  to informal care because that is their only choice.
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          2  But that is what I believe, and I understand you

          3  perhaps believe something different.

          4                 Lastly, I see nowhere in here where

          5  you explain how much new money you will be spending

          6  to create more day care. I see that you will have to

          7  spend money for new systems, I see you will have to

          8  spend money for new training, I see you will have to

          9  spend money for new administrative programs, but I

         10  don't get out of this that there is dollar one being

         11  spent to increase, expand the amount of day care.

         12                 Now, if that is true, unless I have

         13  missed it, it seems to be, isn't it correct that

         14  what you are doing is sort of shifting, taking money

         15  from one to the other, creating perhaps more net day

         16  care by using this less expensive informal care or

         17  simply providing less for working families and more

         18  for welfare families that you are requiring to go to

         19  work.

         20                 So, in short, where are the dollars

         21  and how much are they that reflect expansion of

         22  actual day care providers, versus internal shifts,

         23  or a few extra -- I mean, even a significant number

         24  of extra people getting day care because you use

         25  more informal care? Which of those three things
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          2  happens in your testimony?

          3                 MS. HENDON: There is no budget

          4  information in the testimony about the future

          5  because you will get that in the budget process.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          7                 So, is there an additional dollar or

          8  more being spent in this fiscal year to expand the

          9  available day care? And if so, how much?

         10                 MS. HENDON: We don't have a dollar

         11  amount on that.

         12                 Right now our families have been able

         13  to find day care. We have a very small, a tiny

         14  percentage of families who are deferred because of

         15  lack of child care. We have initiated some special

         16  projects, including one with ACD, to make sure that

         17  they do have slots, regulated slots, available to

         18  them.

         19                 So, the supply of child care so far

         20  has not been a problem. This is why we want and plan

         21  to do these local resource development teams so that

         22  we are there at the neighborhood level and we know

         23  immediately when families start having trouble or

         24  may have trouble with a specific kind of care, then

         25  at this point we feel we can within our current
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          2  budget stimulate the development that would be

          3  needed.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Well, I

          5  find it, and I am going to wrap up my section and

          6  turn it over to the co-chair and the other members,

          7  I find it extremely difficult to understand or

          8  believe that you could account for the increasing

          9  need of both welfare families who are now going into

         10  work activities and continue to maintain and meet

         11  the needs of work, already working families, without

         12  expanding the amount of money you spend on day care.

         13                 You can do it in the short range by

         14  borrowing from one and costing them day care

         15  opportunities to meet the needs of the other, but

         16  those are two needy populations. You can do it in

         17  the short range by forcing more people into informal

         18  care which costs less in the short run, but unless

         19  you expand the amount of day care available, the

         20  bubble has to burst.

         21                 And I take it in this section on

         22  unified child care process that what is happening,

         23  and I think some of us fear this, is that HRA,

         24  through OES, through Commissioner Turner and

         25  yourself, will become the dominant voice in day care
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          2  policy, such that more and more resources will be

          3  spent on the current welfare population moving to

          4  work and less will be spent on the working poor

          5  because there is no new money; is that correct?

          6                 MS. HENDON: No, that is not correct.

          7                 First, we are in a partnership with

          8  ACD, not the dominant voice necessarily.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         10                 MS. HENDON: Secondly, working

         11  families will continue to get child care.

         12                 There are budget increases built in

         13  over the next two years.  One of the efforts that we

         14  are very involved in is trying to persuade the state

         15  to reinvest the TANF savings in child care. If we

         16  can accomplish that, there will be enough child care

         17  for all eligible families.

         18                 We certainly do not intend to

         19  displace working families, they are the same

         20  families, as you know, that might be on public

         21  assistance.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right. And

         23  very often don't go back because they have child

         24  care, so we wouldn't want to put them at risk. I am

         25  just not so sure that you can accomplish it in the
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          2  way you set forth here today your testimony and the

          3  implications therefrom, but we will continue to do

          4  our oversight.

          5                 Let me turn it over to Council Member

          6  Eldridge, and some of the other members have

          7  questions.

          8                 Again, I think it is a little bit

          9  unfair that you have to answer all the questions,

         10  since it is a joint hearing designed to look at two

         11  agencies, and while the testimony could be prepared

         12  together, the detailed questions need to be answered

         13  from each agency, and that would have been a better

         14  way to go.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Eldridge.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: In your

         18  testimony you said the information system will

         19  assure rapid child care access for public assistance

         20  families and for those who only require child care

         21  services in order to avoid seeking public

         22  assistance, so that takes are of the ACS portion of

         23  it, and what we are saying, I was going to ask you

         24  what segment of this, of the population that we

         25  serve is not in that category? So it is preventative
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          2  child care services that come out of ACS; is that

          3  what you are not handling now under HRA?

          4                 MS. HENDON: Not at all. The testimony

          5  wasn't meant to say that.

          6                 Aside from the question about the

          7  child care information system, I am not sure that I

          8  understand. We are simply saying that we are going

          9  to serve families who come into job centers seeking

         10  public assistance, and they may either already be

         11  working, which is often the case, but they can't

         12  make it, or we help them find work. We will provide

         13  them with child care in order to do either of those

         14  things and the same at the other end. We need to be

         15  able to continue transitional families on our

         16  system, but we do not intend to take over our

         17  working families.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But

         19  families, working families that need the child care

         20  subsidy are in fact families that need a form of

         21  public assistance to continue working, right?

         22                 So, I mean it is a blending. What you

         23  are distinguishing is -- I am trying to understand

         24  how you are justifying or what is separating the two

         25  agencies.
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          2                 What you are saying is the people who

          3  come into child care programs, through HRA, will

          4  always be HRA's concern, whether the people go and

          5  get jobs and simply need the subsidy that people

          6  three years ago went to ACD for child care

          7  subsidies, right?

          8                 MS. HENDON: We need to be able to

          9  provide that guarantee to families who have been in

         10  the public assistance system or who want to get on

         11  it in order to achieve our welfare to work goals.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How much are

         13  you spending on the system?

         14                 MS. HENDON: On the system? I don't

         15  have that figure, but we can certainly get it for

         16  you.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And when are

         18  you doing this? What is your time line? When do you

         19  expect to?

         20                 MS. HENDON: The child care

         21  information system is being piloted by ACD. The

         22  pilot began a week ago Monday I believe. They hope

         23  to have it --

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What is

         25  being piloted by ACD?
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          2                 MS. HENDON: The child care

          3  information system.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And do they

          5  report to you?

          6                 MS. HENDON: No, but --

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Who do they

          8  report to?

          9                 MS. HENDON: ACS.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And then how

         11  does --

         12                 MS. HENDON: I can talk a little bit

         13  more about the child care information system. This

         14  was a system that development began when ACD was

         15  still part of HRA, and the development has been done

         16  by the HRA management information staff.

         17                 It was developed for use by ACD. ACD

         18  is piloting it. We are working with ACD so that we

         19  can also use that same system in our Job Centers and

         20  BEGIN offices, so both ACD and HRA will be using the

         21  same information system. The pilot started at ACD.

         22                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Can you just

         23  -- I mean, this is all very confusing and I am just

         24  slow, but of course your agencies have not been very

         25  helpful in trying to get us to understand what is
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          2  happening to child care, although some of us have

          3  long feared that what would happen is the child care

          4  would become work, the WEP programs form of child

          5  care, and that ACS eventually will be responsible

          6  only for preventative child care services, and I

          7  assume that that is really what is going to happen.

          8                 But you are showing us how you are

          9  going to make informal care more accountable and

         10  stable -- a person is called in, a mother of two

         11  children is called into a job center and is told she

         12  has to go to work and she is given her choices, some

         13  of us think not fully, but anyway she has to go and

         14  look for informal child care; how long does she have

         15  to look for that informal child care arrangement?

         16                 MS. HENDON: Two to five days. It is

         17  her only activity during that period, though.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, that's

         19  not true, I mean she is still taking care of her

         20  children and she is still running a household and

         21  she has still got to worry about how she is paying

         22  bills and how she is going to get the money and

         23  everything else, all right?

         24                 Then you are going to have an

         25  orientation meeting for the informal care provider

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            144

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  she finds before the child is assigned to the

          3  informal caretaker?

          4                 MS. FEINSTEIN: No.

          5                 MS. HENDON: Not at all.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, what

          7  happens when the informal caretaker is called to an

          8  orientation meeting but she is really supposed to, I

          9  am assuming it is a she, she is supposed to be

         10  taking care of the child; when does she come to your

         11  informal orientation?

         12                 MS. HENDON: First, we haven't said

         13  the meeting is a required meeting.  We hope to

         14  provide some incentives that will assure that most

         15  providers will come.

         16                 Second, we will have the meetings in

         17  the evening and on Saturdays when she is not doing

         18  child care.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And if the

         20  informal care provider doesn't come to the meeting

         21  and isn't given the orientation, you will remove

         22  her, since you are sending checks directly now, like

         23  a two-payment check, you are paying the informal

         24  care provider, you are removing any sense from the

         25  mother who has been called in and put to work as to
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          2  whether she likes that child care, you are going to

          3  now -- you contract in a way with the child care

          4  provider? You are paying them directly, right?

          5                 MS. HENDON: We are paying them

          6  directly. We aren't removing any sense from the

          7  mother. Obviously she can change informal providers

          8  just as she can change day care centers.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How can she

         10  change an informal provider? She is going to decide

         11  she doesn't like this provider but meanwhile she is

         12  working. She is going to have to locate another

         13  provider, then she is going to have to account,

         14  depend on the accuracy or the efficiency of your

         15  agency to be able to change the reimbursement?

         16                 MS. HENDON: How is that different

         17  from when she is using regulated care and decides to

         18  change?

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, the

         20  regulated care, it seems to me, is inspected and has

         21  some accountability and we have some standards. What

         22  we are objecting to is that we have no standards and

         23  no accountability for the informal day care. By your

         24  providing payments directly to the informal day

         25  care, aren't you implying a contractual relationship
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          2  with that person who is providing the care?

          3                 MS. HENDON: No, the informal provider

          4  is a private business person doing care out of her

          5  home. There is no contractual relationship.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But getting

          7  a City check, right?

          8                 MS. HENDON: Yes, this is standard

          9  practice.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am not an

         11  attorney so I don't know, but it would seem to me,

         12  if the City is paying for a service, somehow there

         13  is an implication there that there is a contractual

         14  arrangement.

         15                 MS. HENDON: No, we are paying on

         16  behalf of the parent. It is always the parent's

         17  choice and it is the parent's choice to move.

         18                 In response to your question about

         19  the orientation, it is our hope that we will be able

         20  to get the information to everyone. Even if someone

         21  can't or won't come to a meeting, that we can mail

         22  them the information, that we can do a home visit,

         23  to share the information with them in person.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Who is going

         25  to do the home visit?
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          2                 MS. HENDON: We have some personnel

          3  the who have been assigned to do some health and

          4  safety information for informal providers.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Are these

          6  the people that were funded in '98 to do random

          7  inspections?

          8                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How many

         10  random inspections have they conducted?

         11                 MS. HENDON: We haven't done any.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But they are

         13  on staff now?

         14                 MS. HENDON: Yes, they are on staff in

         15  other --

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Two years?

         17                 MS. HENDON: Some of them, only five

         18  of them are on staff now. They are in other key

         19  roles.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how long

         21  have they been on staff?

         22                 MS. HENDON: I am sorry, I don't know

         23  exactly how long they have each been on staff.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It was in

         25  the FY '98 budget --
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          2                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, it seems

          4  to me that's a couple of years.

          5                 There are five of them?

          6                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And they

          8  have not performed any informal, any inspections

          9  yet?

         10                 MS. HENDON: No.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You say that

         12  you want to become a sponsor of the federal child

         13  and adult care food program; is that because then

         14  they pay you for the three annual home visits?

         15                 MS. HENDON: That's part of it. It is

         16  also because it is another source of income for

         17  informal providers. It improves the nutrition that

         18  children receive in family child care homes and it

         19  gives us a way of connecting with these providers so

         20  we can in fact get them to orientation meetings, let

         21  them know about registration, give them more

         22  information.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: When a

         24  parent is referred to ACD, does the parent get child

         25  care or get put on a waiting list? Or is told go
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          2  back to OES and settle for informal care?

          3                 MS. HENDON: If a parent asks for an

          4  ACD facility, they are referred and they are put on

          5  a waiting list at ACD.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes. And

          7  then what happens? Then they are on a waiting list

          8  so they can't go to work. They have five days to

          9  find child care provisions, so they have to come

         10  back to OES and get informal care?

         11                 MS. HENDON:  We know when we make

         12  that referral, when we talk with the parent

         13  initially, that there is probably a waiting list. So

         14  we encourage the parent to find some other child

         15  care that is available to them.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So then in a

         17  way we are being exceedingly disingenuous about

         18  offering two formal day care alternatives to a

         19  parent, if in fact they have to go to ACD and they

         20  are put on a waiting list, if they say I want formal

         21  day care?

         22                 MS. HENDON: There is a lot of

         23  regulated child care that isn't completely used up

         24  at ACD. We seldom, if ever, give out a name of a

         25  provider where there isn't a vacancy.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, then

          3  why do they have to get put on a waiting list?

          4                 MS. HENDON: Because they want a

          5  specific ACD center, or for whatever reason, they

          6  want to be in ACD care. So they may already be

          7  getting care through us, but they also are put on an

          8  ACD waiting list. It's their --

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I mean, if

         10  they wanted an ACD formal day care center in their

         11  neighborhood and that happened to be a waiting list,

         12  you are saying that if they were offered a spot in

         13  formal day care in a different borough, that they

         14  should accept that or get the informal care.

         15                 MS. HENDON: It is very unlikely that

         16  they would be given a name in a different borough.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How many new

         18  spots do we have in formal day care?

         19                 MS. HENDON: I don't have that

         20  information.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Are you

         22  planning to ask for more money for formal day care?

         23                 MS. HENDON: To expand the number of

         24  spots?

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Yes.
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          2                 MS. HENDON: That isn't in our

          3  immediate plans.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And are you

          5  training or expanding the number of family day care,

          6  supervised family day care slots programs?

          7                 MS. HENDON: No.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Are you

          9  referring to day care networks for filling of jobs?

         10                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Is the $13

         12  million that the Council put into the budget the

         13  money that was located to extend the vouchers?

         14                 MS. HENDON: That is my understanding.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I thought

         16  there was a term and condition in the budget that

         17  prevented you from doing that?

         18                 MS. HENDON: This is a question about

         19  ACD's vouchers that I would have to consult with ACD

         20  to get you specific information.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That's is

         22  why we really wanted to have ACD come. There are

         23  many questions.

         24                 The Council put into the budget money

         25  for ACD, expansion of ACD slots, not to continue the
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          2  vouchers.

          3                 MS. HENDON: Well, as I said in my

          4  testimony, there were 10,000 voucher children funded

          5  in 1997, and with this new money, the current level

          6  of 15,500 is funded. So there is an increase of over

          7  5,000 voucher slots.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: But that is

          9  in our money. That is in our money, right?

         10                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         11                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That's City

         12  Council money.

         13                 It's the public money, but it is

         14  allocated from the City Council.

         15                 So, in other words, we are not

         16  providing for the expansion of child care, other

         17  than basically for those people who enter into the

         18  area, for those people who require child care in

         19  order to comply with your job center requirements.

         20  We are not expanding child care for a family that

         21  wasn't called into a Job Center but that maybe the

         22  woman has gotten a job but still needs a subsidized

         23  slot. That person is not going to be able to access

         24  child care; is that right?

         25                 MS. HENDON: It sounds like you are
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          2  referring to the ACD target population and I can't

          3  tell you what their budget projections are, but you

          4  are going to find that out in the budget process.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, that

          6  is totally unsatisfactory, since this is an

          7  oversight hearing and they were requested to come to

          8  testify. That is what we have been talking about

          9  since the beginning of your testimony, is that we

         10  are not getting what we hope as the full picture,

         11  but what we fear is a full picture and that is, that

         12  the only child care that is going to grow is child

         13  care for women, for children, who are called --

         14  children of the women who are called into the job

         15  centers.

         16                 Now, you are the liaison, you must

         17  have some idea, supposedly, of what is happening at

         18  ACD? I thought you testified that you did.

         19                 MS. HENDON: I have some idea but I

         20  can't address your question about what they are

         21  budgeting for in terms of expansion, or what funds

         22  will be available in the future there.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am asking

         24  you now, how many -- let's go a different way. How

         25  many formal child care centers are there that do not
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          2  have waiting lists?

          3                 MS. HENDON: I can't answer that

          4  question. That do not have waiting lists? No, I

          5  can't answer that question. I would have to consult

          6  with ACD about that.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay.

          8                 We have a whole page of budget

          9  questions that we had asked in letters in May and

         10  July of this last year. It was a description of the

         11  number of slots that each agency intends to support,

         12  the type of care provider and then the total number

         13  of children served.

         14                 MS. HENDON: I gave you some of those

         15  numbers.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Give them to

         17  me again.

         18                 MS. HENDON: All right.

         19                 Currently HRA has 24,313 children,

         20  ACD has 59,836 children.

         21                 The type of care that they are in, if

         22  you want it broken down by the two separate

         23  agencies: At HRA, 87 percent of the children are in

         24  informal care, the remainder are evenly divided

         25  between groups and regulated family child care.
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          2                 At ACD, 82 percent of the children

          3  are in group center care, 15 percent in regulated

          4  family child care, and three percent in informal

          5  care.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay.

          7                 We asked an account of whether the

          8  targeted voucher program will continue in Fiscal

          9  '99, how many vouchers will be distributed, how

         10  many children served and how the initiative will be

         11  funded.

         12                 So, let's go back. How many vouchers

         13  have been distributed for Fiscal '99?

         14                 MS. HENDON: Currently there are

         15  15,508 children using vouchers.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how is

         17  the initiative funded?

         18                 MS. HENDON: It is funded with City

         19  monies.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: It is in the

         21  $13 million? What? How much is the total cost of

         22  that?

         23                 MS. HENDON: I can't answer that, I

         24  don't have the specifics of that.

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We asked the
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          2  attrition rate among different modalities of care,

          3  group care, family day care, as well as the care

          4  access through vouchers and OES subsidies.

          5                 MS. HENDON: We don't have that

          6  information.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: An account

          8  of plans to coordinate ACD and OES child care

          9  resources and service delivery, that is what you

         10  just I guess have given us.

         11                 How much funding will be shared and

         12  what program or programs will be funded jointly?

         13                 MS. HENDON: Right now we have one

         14  specific program where we have made HRA funding

         15  available to ACD for a particular project that we

         16  are working on, a day care expansion project. That

         17  is the only specific plan we have right now.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What kind of

         19  day care expansion?

         20                 MS. HENDON: This is a project that

         21  identifies slots that family child care networks can

         22  create in order to serve families, initially to

         23  serve families who were deferred because of lack of

         24  child care, who had trouble finding child care

         25  public assistance families.
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          2                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: These are

          3  network affiliated family day care?

          4                 MS. HENDON: Yes, they are at ACD.

          5                 So we have a special referral process

          6  worked out to give these families who come into our

          7  -- who are called into our officers, to give them

          8  information about the spaces available in the

          9  networks, ways to contact the networks and then we

         10  have worked out a fiscal payment procedure with ACD

         11  to pay for the care through the networks.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: How many

         13  children, how many slots have you found?

         14                 MS. HENDON: I believe that the

         15  networks felt that they could provide 4,000 slots.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And have

         17  they been filled?

         18                 MS. HENDON: No, they have not.

         19                 We have not had much response to that

         20  program and we are currently problem solving with

         21  ACD to see how we can make a better connection

         22  between our families and the spaces that they can

         23  create out there.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: What do you

         25  mean, you haven't had a response from the families
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          2  putting the children into child care?

          3                 MS. HENDON: I mean, that even though

          4  the families have been called into our offices, and

          5  they have been given the information about those

          6  spaces, they haven't used them for whatever reason.

          7  You know, there are many possible reasons why this

          8  hasn't worked out.

          9                 Most of those families, by the way,

         10  are using some kind of child care, so most of them

         11  are no longer in a deferral status. They have found

         12  child care of some other kind.

         13                 But the particular program as we

         14  designed it hasn't been used by the family. So we

         15  are looking at it again to see if we can figure out

         16  how to make the connection better.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Are you now

         18  paying informal day care providers directly?

         19                 MS. HENDON: No.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how much

         21  money is this estimated to cost the 4,000 family day

         22  care slots?

         23                 MS. HENDON: Up to $8 million.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         25                 There are a lot more questions but I
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          2  don't want to take it away. Are there any questions

          3  from the Committee?

          4                 Watkins, Linares, Perkins. Let's go

          5  the other way and let Perkins, since I cut him off

          6  the last time.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You have five

          8  inspectors, I understand, that are doing this

          9  informal day care?

         10                 MR. HENDON: No, we are not doing that

         11  yet. We filled five of the positions that were

         12  allocated to us.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And how many

         14  are allocated? Five of how many have been filled?

         15                 MS. HENDON: I believe there were 16

         16  that were allocated.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: And what type

         18  of training are we giving these five individuals?

         19                 MS. HENDON: We are designing training

         20  for them right now in health and safety practices in

         21  child care.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What does

         23  that mean?

         24                 MS. HENDON: It means they haven't

         25  received training yet.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When do you

          3  anticipate they will be getting training?

          4                 MS. HENDON: I would say that within

          5  the next six months at least, we will have this

          6  health and safety technical assistance ready for

          7  providers. So they should receive training, I would

          8  say within the next six months.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay. So,

         10  right now what are they doing? What have they been

         11  doing up until now?

         12                 MS. HENDON: They have been doing a

         13  number of child care related things.

         14                 One of the things that they are doing

         15  is resolving problems when providers call in with

         16  problems about payments or relationships with

         17  parents, some of them have been doing that and have

         18  been doing it out of our BEGIN centers.

         19                 Some of them have been working in

         20  what we call our directory unit, where we call

         21  providers to find out how many vacancies there are

         22  currently so we can give our staff current

         23  information on vacancies in child care programs.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The 16

         25  positions at what cost? What is the budget for that,
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          2  do you know?

          3                 MS. HENDON: Approximately $180,000.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: For 16,

          5  180,000. And what happened to the other 11? What is

          6  the problem?

          7                 MS. HENDON: There is no problem, it

          8  is simply that we couldn't proceed with the

          9  monitoring plan. We do intend to fill the other 11

         10  positions, as I told you, along with the child care

         11  and adult food program, it will be a package deal

         12  with the health and safety, technical assistance and

         13  the food program together. So we are beginning to

         14  look at the other positions.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: You are

         16  beginning to look at the other positions.

         17                 MS. HENDON: Fill them.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, these

         19  five individuals will be ready to go do this

         20  inspection in six months, in five boroughs, to

         21  approximately how many informal providers?

         22                 MS. HENDON: They won't be doing

         23  inspections. They will be able to provide technical

         24  assistance to informal providers.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: That is what
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          2  they are doing now.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: They were

          4  funded to do inspections.

          5                 MS. HENDON: Right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Help me

          7  understand something. These are five inspectors, or

          8  are these five technicians? What are we calling

          9  these people?

         10                 MS. HENDON: Well, actually the five

         11  positions that have been funded aren't all

         12  caseworker positions. I am not sure I can cite for

         13  you exactly, but one is a supervisor, there may be

         14  two or three caseworkers, and two of them are

         15  clerical support people that we have filled so far.

         16  Nobody is doing inspections right now, nor is

         17  anybody making any visits to informal provider

         18  homes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: How many

         20  informal provider homes of record approximately?

         21                 MS. HENDON: At any one time about

         22  7,000.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS:

         24  Seven-thousand. And in six months there will be

         25  inspections of these 7,000 homes?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            163

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2                 MS. HENDON: No, there won't be

          3  inspections. There will be --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Do you think

          5  you will ever do inspections? Let me just start

          6  there. Do you think you will do them in the next ten

          7  years, five years, three years, two years, a year?

          8  When do you think inspections will start, the actual

          9  visionary inspections that you have in mind.

         10                 MS. HENDON: We don't have a plan to

         11  do inspections per say. Our plan is to make visits

         12  to the homes, monitor their food service and also

         13  make, give them consultation and technical

         14  assistance about health and safety topics.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: When I as an

         16  inspector visit the home, I will take inventory of

         17  the food, right? And I will inform them on certain

         18  technical things as it relates to payment of their

         19  check or what else? I mean, what will I look at when

         20  I go to the home?

         21                 MS. HENDON: I will talk with them

         22  about whether they are lying babies on their back

         23  rather than their stomachs. I will talk with them

         24  about sanitation and diapering practices, I will

         25  give them some articles and checklists about
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          2  checking safety things in the home, such as

          3  electrical outlets. I will do a variety of things to

          4  improve the health and safety in the home and

          5  capture their interest, encourage them to get

          6  connected with other child care providers.

          7                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That is only

          8  going to be if you get that provider to participate

          9  in that federal food program.

         10                 MS. HENDON: No, not necessarily. We

         11  will be able to do the health and safety assistance

         12  to any provider, whether they are in the food

         13  program or not.

         14                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I thought

         15  the Health Department is supposed to do that anyway?

         16                 MS. HENDON: Not for informal

         17  practice.

         18                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Not for

         19  informal.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, will I,

         21  as an inspector, make out a report to someone like

         22  regarding what I observed or what I did?

         23                 MS. HENDON: Certainly we will be

         24  collecting information to learn about what some of

         25  the problems and issues are and what else we can do
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          2  out there to make the care better. But there is no

          3  statutory authority to monitor and report to anyone

          4  about what is going on in that home, unless we see

          5  an issue that gets into a child protective services

          6  area and then obviously we would have to report that

          7  to ACS.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, for

          9  instance, let's assume there are rodents or some

         10  sort of substandard living conditions?

         11                 MS. HENDON: We would certainly work

         12  very hard to correct that with the provider. I am

         13  not familiar with the health and sanitation codes in

         14  the City of New York, that is something we would

         15  have to train our visitors on to see if we could

         16  report those conditions.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Now, I am

         18  sorry I don't have much time, but I am getting a

         19  sense that you are really not ready with this

         20  inspector aspect of this approach that you are

         21  getting ready to take.

         22                 I am getting a feeling that you have

         23  16 inspectors, but you are not quite sure what these

         24  inspectors are going to be doing and I am a little

         25  concerned about that because I think that this can
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          2  be a very dangerous situation.

          3                 MS. HENDON: We have no legal

          4  authority to inspect or monitor or regulate these

          5  homes. But we do have resources and we do know what

          6  they are going to do and we are doing health and

          7  safety in those homes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: What happens

          9  if I decide not to open the door? If I am the

         10  inspector and from the other side of the door there

         11  is something like go to hell.

         12                 MS. HENDON: We would probably not

         13  have the authority to get into that home, but that

         14  would be an instance where we would work very hard

         15  to find out how we can reach that provider and

         16  provide some assistance.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We are

         18  really stretching our imagination. I mean, this is

         19  really, I don't even know if this is a productive

         20  line. Come on. It is totally ridiculous.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Sorry. I

         24  didn't mean to cut you off.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: No, I'm
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          2  finished.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Have you

          4  seen any informal day care providers in the City

          5  since you have been here?

          6                 MS. HENDON: No, I actually haven't

          7  because --

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You haven't.

          9                 MS. HENDON: I have not.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Where do you

         11  come from in Wisconsin?

         12                 MS. HENDON: I come from Madison. I

         13  have been in many informal and regulated homes in

         14  that area and in other parts of the country.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, it would

         16  seem to me that you would visit some of the informal

         17  providers here before you continue.

         18                 I mean, I am not casting aspersions

         19  on all informal day care providers, but we have had

         20  anecdotal reports of homes with exposed wiring, of

         21  homes with birds flying around not in cages, of

         22  homes where there are shrines with candles burning.

         23  I think that you should visit some of these homes if

         24  you are planning this extensive system of informal

         25  providers.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Did you plan

          3  on visiting any of the homes?

          4                 MS. HENDON: Yes, I do.

          5                 And let me also just comment here

          6  that, as you know, we do not have any state

          7  regulations. That is one of the major things that we

          8  are all hoping to receive and should have received

          9  months ago.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: This has

         11  historically always been a city that prides itself

         12  on providing the best care in any field, and we

         13  never resorted to saying that there aren't state

         14  regulations. We always strive to go beyond state

         15  regulations.

         16                 We try to give everybody the best,

         17  most empathic, sufficient services. It is a very

         18  fundamental belief of New Yorkers that we do that.

         19  We do not hide behind the lack of state regulations

         20  contrary to what this Administration is trying to

         21  do.

         22                 Council Member Watkins.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         24                 Ms. Hendon, how large, how many

         25  residents in Madison Wisconsin?
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          2                 MS. HENDON: About 300,000.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, with

          4  all due respect to their system there, Council

          5  Member Eldridge, Council Member Linares and yours

          6  truly combined have at least one and a half that

          7  many in our three districts. And I say that to say

          8  to you that some of the things that you have come

          9  before us and said today, don't make sense in this

         10  city. Just don't make sense in the City of New York.

         11                 As one who was born and grew up in

         12  New York, I go back to when my working mother had to

         13  find care for me and that was a whole lot of years

         14  ago. We have been through two generations in my

         15  family since then, of looking for and providing

         16  child care, and it has never been through New York

         17  City or New York State welfare system. So, inherent

         18  in the problem that I see is one that was raised by

         19  a staff member from the Citizens Committee for

         20  Children, it appears that the premise on which HRA

         21  is working is taking money from working poor who

         22  have never been through your system and many of whom

         23  who never will be through your system, but in order

         24  to keep working they must resort to child care.

         25                 You sit here and say that you have

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            170

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  hired five people to do inspections. These five

          3  people have been on for months, they are not doing

          4  any inspections. You tell us it will be

          5  approximately six months more before they are ready

          6  to do inspections; am I correct? Before they are

          7  trained?

          8                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS:  Then you

         10  tell us, when asked what are they doing in the

         11  meantime, some of them are working your director

         12  system, they are making calls to find out if there

         13  are spaces in day care centers or informal day care;

         14  is that true?

         15                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I would say

         17  that that is a very expensive use of the taxpayers'

         18  money, to have somebody sitting and making telephone

         19  calls to say do you have space. And if they say yes,

         20  they get on a list and then what you are telling us,

         21  and correct me if I am wrong, nobody goes to visit

         22  these places to see if they are acceptable; is that

         23  correct?

         24                 MS. HENDON: If you are talking about

         25  the places where there are vacancies, those are
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          2  regulated facilities that are visited by the

          3  Department of Health.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Are you

          5  saying that they don't call the informal places?

          6                 MS. HENDON: No.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: How do you

          8  get those?

          9                 MS. HENDON: Only when a parent brings

         10  in a name of someone they have picked to do child

         11  care.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: But when

         13  those come in, nobody checks them.

         14                 MS. HENDON: Right now nobody checks

         15  them. They are usually the parent's brother, sister,

         16  mother, niece, neighbor.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I have family

         18  members that I wouldn't pay to sit with a pet, so

         19  that has nothing to do with the case.

         20                 What I am saying to you is, when you

         21  say you have no legal authority to inspect, and you

         22  said to a colleague of mine that it was not a

         23  contract when you send a check to informal day care;

         24  did you say that?

         25                 MS. HENDON: That's what I said. It's
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          2  true.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: No, it's not.

          4  And I will tell you why I know it's not. On the very

          5  same Committee, General Welfare, my colleagues will

          6  remember the situation regarding the infamous, now

          7  no longer in operation, Kennedy Inn Homeless

          8  Shelter. They came to us and said the fact that they

          9  were paying $90 to $105 per day, per family, meaning

         10  sometimes two people, for a room in a homeless

         11  shelter was not a contract because it was done in

         12  the name of the client. That is exactly what you

         13  said; am I correct?

         14                 MS. HENDON: That's what I said.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Well, my

         16  community went to court. They sued the City of New

         17  York, and you know what the judge said? It is a

         18  contract. It is a contract. That suit was in

         19  1992/'93. So, there is case law precedent. There is

         20  a contract. And if this City is sending out money to

         21  put our children in places that are not being

         22  investigated and are unauthorized, you are

         23  committing a criminal offense.

         24                 I don't know if you realize it, but I

         25  would advise you to go back and have the Council to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            173

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  your agency check the law.

          3                 Now, you say here that your new

          4  information system will assure rapid child care

          5  access; what do you mean by rapid?

          6                 MS. HENDON: I simply mean that the

          7  information system will have a better database of

          8  all of the child care providers and more current

          9  vacancy information so that we can do a better job

         10  of giving parents that information quickly.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: So, in other

         12  words, we are now changing the word rapid. It

         13  doesn't mean rapid.

         14                 MS. HENDON: It means rapid.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Rapid is

         16  something that is quantifiable. I want to know what

         17  you mean by rapid, and I will tell you why I am

         18  asking. Because a little further down you talk about

         19  a proposal to the federal government to become a

         20  sponsor of federal child and adult care food

         21  program. This is the same HRA that is now under

         22  attack by that same federal government for delaying

         23  and suppressing people who come to ask for food

         24  stamps.

         25                 I have heard our Mayor say that it
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          2  has to be checked out, it has to be looked into, it

          3  has to be investigated, but it is legal and if the

          4  federal government says that we are wrong, before

          5  feeding hungry people, my words, not his, this

          6  Administration is willing to take the federal

          7  government to court.

          8                 So, I want to understand what you

          9  mean by rapid, because I have a problem with an

         10  agency where people go and say we are hungry, we

         11  need food stamps, and they have to wait weeks and

         12  sometimes months.

         13                 If they are forced to find child care

         14  in two to five days, which is ludicrous, and if you

         15  are familiar with the seven and a half million

         16  people who live in New York City, you can't do that

         17  and find something responsible.

         18                 I want to know how you are going to

         19  do this in a rapid manner. You just changed rapid.

         20                 MS. HENDON: If you have a screen in

         21  front of you with a list of the child care providers

         22  that are within a one-mile radius, or a five-block

         23  radius of this center where you are sitting with the

         24  parent, and that list has the enrollment and the

         25  vacancies of those facilities on that screen, then
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          2  you can immediately give that information to the

          3  parent. You don't have to call the facility and find

          4  out if there are vacancies, you don't have to look

          5  at your printed material to see if that is very

          6  current about the vacancies, so you have much

          7  quicker access to the vacancy information for the

          8  parent. Rapid and quickly I am using

          9  interchangeably.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: All right, so

         11  that means that within a 48 or 36, 36 or 48 hour

         12  period your computer screens are updated when one of

         13  those slots is filled so that you are not sending

         14  people on a futile chase.

         15                 MS. HENDON: We hope it will work that

         16  way. It is currently working that way at ACD, as I

         17  understand it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Okay.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Can I just

         20  ask, you can't tell us how many day care centers

         21  have waiting lists, right? I asked you that question

         22  and you don't know.

         23                 MS. HENDON: That's right.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, a lot of

         25  this rapid system is going to find day care centers
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          2  that have waiting lists, right?

          3                 You also told us that you are having

          4  trouble filling 4,000 slots that you have located

          5  for a family day care, so I don't even understand

          6  what the relevance of this rapid system is, since it

          7  seems to me that most of the emphasis and the way

          8  the system is designed, it is basically going to be

          9  your 87 percent of informal care.

         10                 MS. HENDON: I am not quite following

         11  that.

         12                 If a family comes in --

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That is how

         14  I feel because I am not following you either.

         15                 But I am saying that we know there

         16  are 20, 25,000, 30,000 people on waiting lists for

         17  formal day care, so what do we need a rapid screen

         18  to tell us that there is a waiting list?

         19                 We also, you have told us, that you

         20  have located 4,000 slots in family day care which

         21  for some reason you haven't been able to fill. So, I

         22  don't understand what the rapid -- I mean, this

         23  rapid system is to divert our attention I think,

         24  that is what I am saying. I am sorry.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I just want
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          2  to go back to something that has frustrated at least

          3  two of my colleagues already today.

          4                 When it comes to asking about numbers

          5  and vacancies and projected expansion of spots, in

          6  almost every case you have said you can't answer

          7  that because that will be in the budget or that is a

          8  budget question.

          9                 So, do I understand that you have

         10  come here totally unprepared to tell us anything

         11  regarding the cost of care, the expected increase of

         12  the costs of care for the future and anything

         13  budgetary?

         14                 MS. HENDON: That's right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Oh, okay.

         16  Well, then let us tell you this, that the oversight

         17  first and then the passage of the budget rests right

         18  here with us, and that there are those of us here,

         19  Mr. Perkins has left, but Council Member Linares,

         20  Council Member Lopez and I, along with others,

         21  belong to a caucus on the City Council and we dare

         22  say that most of the children who need the child

         23  care that we are asking about are the children of

         24  our constituents, as well as the children of

         25  constituents of some of our colleagues, and we can
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          2  assure you right now, hear us and hear us well, that

          3  if it is a budgetary request from your agency that

          4  does not speak to the increased well-being of our

          5  children, we will see that it goes nowhere and we

          6  have the numbers to do it. And you need not say you

          7  will talk to anybody in leadership. They are our

          8  children, and we have a problem with an

          9  Administration that can come to us and tell us

         10  square foot, square yard and area about a proposed

         11  stadium and that that is not budgeted yet, and

         12  cannot tell us about slots for working parents to

         13  put their children. In the minds of this City

         14  Council it is children first, baseball and football

         15  some place way down the line.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We are not

         18  even talking, as Council Member Watkins has said, we

         19  are not talking about projected budgets, we are

         20  talking about actual budgets for '99, which we still

         21  have not gotten answers from you guys about how you

         22  are spending the money. So we just want to be sure

         23  about that.

         24                 Council Member Linares.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. HENDON: What information didn't

          3  you get about '99 that we might be able to give you?

          4  We do have a budget person here with us.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: That is

          6  precisely what my question is going to be about. And

          7  I think it was alluded to earlier and I am

          8  specifically referring to the $13.2 million that

          9  were allocated in the budget modification that was

         10  recently passed which were intended for day care

         11  slots, including for child care centers, Head Start

         12  and family day care.

         13                 My question was going to be what are

         14  HRA and ACD doing to make these slots available in

         15  communities like Washington Heights and Inwood where

         16  the greatest needs exist.

         17                 I believe that you answered by saying

         18  that the money has now been shifted for vouchers,

         19  but I was wondering if you can clarify that and if

         20  it is true that the money has gone to vouchers, I

         21  would like to get an idea of how these vouchers are

         22  being distributed and which communities are getting

         23  them and where are you in terms of that process and

         24  aren't you violating basically the essence of the

         25  intent of the use of this money?
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          2                 MS. HENDON: Well, you are talking

          3  about money that you specifically added to the ACD

          4  budget, and unfortunately I cannot give you the

          5  specifics on that money.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: So you have

          7  no idea what has happened with the $13.2 million

          8  that has been added to your budget with the intent

          9  --

         10                 MS. HENDON: To the ACD budget.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: To the ACD

         12  budget, for new day care slots, which is a dire need

         13  that we have in communities like mine.

         14                 MS. HENDON: I am sure it is being

         15  used for new day care slots, I can't break it down

         16  for you at this time.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Okay. I would

         18  like to get, if you can provide the Committee, a

         19  clearcut indication of how the 13.2 million are

         20  being utilized.

         21                 MS. HENDON: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: The other

         23  question that I had was regarding construction. Is

         24  the City prepared to provide capital funds and to

         25  designate capital funds for new construction which
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          2  would give us desperately needed day care slots that

          3  we are in desperate need of?

          4                 MS. HENDON: There is a capital

          5  budget, we are not prepared to address it right now.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: I beg your

          7  pardon?

          8                 MS. HENDON: There is a capital

          9  budget, we can't address it specifically at this

         10  moment.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Okay, in that

         12  area I think it would be critical for us to have a

         13  sense of what type of projections, not just what

         14  exists now but what type of projections you have.

         15  Because I don't think informal care is going to

         16  answer the prices that we confront, and I think that

         17  we have to really, if we are serious about

         18  addressing this need look at new construction and

         19  also capital funding, especially in the year to

         20  come.

         21                 So, if you can respond also on that

         22  area to the Committee, we would appreciate it.

         23                 MS. HENDON: All right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Council

         25  Member Lopez has questions, and I just want to point
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          2  out as she begins, this is precisely the reason why

          3  the games that this Administration plays with the

          4  Council in general and this Committee in particular

          5  are unacceptable.

          6                 How could you come to this hearing

          7  without a person from ACD?

          8                 How could you come to this hearing

          9  and say you can't answer the budget question when

         10  was asked how much money you are spending on day

         11  care, you have a budget person sitting there. She

         12  joins you at the table and she answers the

         13  questions.

         14                 So, let's just see if we can move

         15  this thing, and otherwise we are going to have to

         16  end it and then have another hearing bringing you

         17  all back either voluntarily or under order.

         18                 So, Council Member Lopez and then I

         19  wanted to, and then Council Member Eldridge will

         20  wrap it up and then we will evaluate how much we

         21  have been able to pry out of this Administration

         22  today.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Good evening,

         24  Madame. Thank you for being here.

         25                 I have a couple of questions I would
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          2  like to begin asking you about a letter that was

          3  sent by this Committee and the Welfare Committee

          4  jointly and the two chairpersons signed this letter,

          5  it was dated July 15, 1998.

          6                 In that letter we requested some

          7  critical information in order for us to conduct our

          8  business. There is one particular item in that

          9  letter that I am interested in right now.

         10                 There is an item to clarify the City

         11  plan for day care funding and service delivery. We

         12  requested that each agency provide a detailed plan

         13  for the use of funds identified in the fiscal year

         14  1999 adopted budget. We have not received that yet.

         15                 How does the Administration expect us

         16  to approve a budget without the information that we

         17  requested that is critical for us to do so in 1999?

         18                 Can you give me some light to that?

         19                 MS. HENDON: I can tell you that there

         20  was a consultation with OMB that went through the

         21  details of all of those questions. We understood the

         22  questions had been answered that way.

         23                 In regard to specifically the budget,

         24  do we have any comments on that?

         25                 It was with Councilwoman Eldridge
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          2  meeting with OMB that went through the questions.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I am sorry,

          4  I don't understand what you are talking about.

          5                 We met with OMB about family day care

          6  and negotiations.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Wait a moment.

          8  You indicated that this issue was dealt with with

          9  Councilwoman Eldridge. I am Councilwoman Margarita

         10  Lopez, and we are two different people. Then I need

         11  the information also.

         12                 If this issue was discussed with her,

         13  then that is to me an indication that this is in

         14  writing. I would like to have the copy of that

         15  discussion that you have or the answer to the

         16  questions. Because the request that was made, and if

         17  this was discussed with Councilwoman Eldridge, then

         18  that means you have the information.

         19                 Therefore, I would like to formally

         20  request that you gave to this Committee that

         21  information that you indicated was discussed with

         22  Councilwoman Eldridge.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Excuse me.

         24  We had a 15-minute meeting with people from OMB, it

         25  was a very broad thing, in May. I mean, and suppose
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          2  if I asked you to repeat the answers, is that so

          3  terrible that you answer a letter? I don't

          4  understand what this fuss is about. We had no

          5  details at those meetings. These letters came after

          6  that meeting asking for some details.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Councilwoman

          8  Eldridge, I understand that. I am asking a separate

          9  question now, it is coming from this Councilwoman

         10  who represents the second district, who have

         11  children in there.

         12                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: And this

         14  Councilwoman is asking that you provide me and

         15  provide this Committee in writing with the answer of

         16  each agency providing a detailing plan for the use

         17  of the funds identified in the Fiscal Year 1999. And

         18  if you are going to provide these services then the

         19  minimum things that you have to have in writing is

         20  that.

         21                 MS. ABADESSA: Well, let me just say

         22  we were not present at that meeting. It was our

         23  understanding that many of the questions were in

         24  fact responded to which appears that may or may not

         25  be accurate. What we will do is go back and follow
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          2  this up with OMB.

          3                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am not asking

          5  for you to go back, I am asking for this Committee

          6  to get this information now.

          7                 Independently of who asked you or

          8  didn't ask you in the past, now I am asking you. And

          9  I am asking the Administration to provide this

         10  Committee with this information. And if this

         11  information is not provided to us, then I suggest

         12  that we subpoena this information and force them to

         13  give us this information.

         14                 Because how do you pretend or think

         15  you are going to conduct business in the City of new

         16  York in regard to spending monies without

         17  identifying properly to us how every agency is

         18  planning to use this money in a detailed manner.

         19                 How do you expect us to appropriate

         20  money, give it to you and we don't know for what you

         21  are using it? We don't even have no idea. It is not

         22  given to us in writing. Then I am asking for that

         23  information to be submitted to us, in writing to the

         24  Committee now, not to Councilwoman Eldridge, not to

         25  DiBrienza, not to anybody else, to the Committee, in
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          2  order for all of us to share that information.

          3                 Can we get to that agreement that

          4  that is going to be provided to us?

          5                 MS. ABADESSA: Some of the responses

          6  were actually folded into our testimony and in those

          7  cases where the answers were not responded to, as I

          8  said, we will go back and we will get back to you.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Does your

         10  organization perform needs assessment?

         11                 MS. HENDON: If you are talking about

         12  a child care needs assessment, we do not have a

         13  specific needs assessment process.

         14                 In the testimony I laid out for you,

         15  a local approach to looking at needs that are

         16  specific to a neighborhood, because as you probably

         17  know, child care needs are very complex, they change

         18  all the time. We do not have an overall Citywide

         19  needs assessment study, if that is what you are

         20  asking.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Then here we go

         22  again. The Administration put the budget together

         23  requesting money for things that we don't know what

         24  they want it for because we never have conducted a

         25  needs assessment in order to know where we need to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            188

          1  GENERAL WELFARE AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  allocate the money.

          3                 This is the same answer that was

          4  given to me when I asked about the care provided to

          5  homeless youth in New York City. The Commissioner

          6  said to me, we do not know what are the needs of the

          7  youth who are homeless.

          8                 Then I said, then how do you know for

          9  what you need the money for? Then if you don't have

         10  a need assessment done for the children that we need

         11  to serve, can you tell me how it is that you

         12  determine what to use the money, if you don't know

         13  for what you need it? Can you tell me?

         14                 MS. HENDON: We aren't here requesting

         15  funds today.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am not asking

         17  you if you are requesting funds today here. You have

         18  requested the money already. You have the money

         19  already. The money has been appropriated, and I am

         20  asking you, those dollars that were appropriated,

         21  for what do you use it? For what do you use it?

         22                 MS. HENDON: We are going to use all

         23  the funds that you appropriated to us for child care

         24  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You don't have
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          2  a needs assessment? Then how do you know in what you

          3  are going to use it?

          4                 MS. HENDON: We are using it to pay

          5  for child care assistance for the families who come

          6  into the job centers and the BEGIN centers, so we

          7  are paying for the child care for them.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Well, what is

          9  the need of that child? You are paying somebody for

         10  something but you don't know what you are paying

         11  for. You don't even know if that child needs what

         12  you are paying for.

         13                 MS. ABADESSA: Maybe there is a

         14  misunderstanding here, I am not clear what you

         15  define by need. There is a lot of different ways of

         16  defining it.

         17                 I mean, we have a sense of based

         18  upon, we do our budget we have estimates and so one

         19  can make estimates based upon past or current

         20  information in terms of and based on assumptions

         21  regarding overall how much child care may be needed

         22  based upon the age of the child and probabilities

         23  regarding the type of child care they may require.

         24                 Is that the question you are asking

         25  or is it a question regarding where they --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: I am asking you

          3  if you have conducted --

          4                 MS. ABADESSA: Let me just make sure

          5  because it is important that we understand each

          6  other to answer your question properly.

          7                 I mean, I wasn't certain. I thought

          8  where you were going with this was a needs in terms

          9  of where in the City may there be a need for child

         10  care, because clearly in some cases there might be

         11  needs in one geographic area but not others.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: That is part of

         13  what I am asking.

         14                 I want to know if the resources that

         15  are appropriated and allocated on those areas that

         16  are needed, and if you don't conduct a needs

         17  assessment, how do you know to put the money in

         18  there? How do you even know that the money is needed

         19  in that area?

         20                 MS. HENDON: First of all, remember

         21  that if you are asking us, HRA, we have a very

         22  flexible system and when a parent goes into any one

         23  of our job centers or BEGIN centers, they are

         24  getting child care help, paying for the child care

         25  that they asked for.
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          2                 So, in that sense we do not need a

          3  needs assessment to respond to those specific parent

          4  needs, and that is where the $77 million a year that

          5  you give HRA is spent, is to pay for the child care

          6  that parents choose.

          7                 If you are asking about a needs

          8  assessment, whether the spaces are there, is there

          9  enough infant care in zip code 37 in Brooklyn, that

         10  kind of needs assessment is something that we are

         11  looking at very closely with ACD and with local

         12  community-based agencies to see if we can prioritize

         13  where we may run into problems. Right now we are not

         14  having problems with the supply. But we acknowledge

         15  and agree with those of you who are saying we may

         16  have those problems.

         17                 So, we are working to assess in

         18  advance where the greatest needs will be and what,

         19  if any, additional money we might need to meet them

         20  to increase capacity.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Do you have

         22  needs assessments done for teen parents with

         23  children?

         24                 Do you have needs assessments done

         25  for persons who are in a homeless shelter for a day
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          2  care center?

          3                 Do you have a needs assessment done

          4  for victims of domestic violence?

          5                 MS. HENDON: We don't have those

          6  specific needs assessment studies.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: You don't?

          8                 MS. HENDON: We do not.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, thank

         11  you, Council Member.

         12                 One of the reasons these hearings get

         13  increasingly frustrating, I submit to you is because

         14  it appears as though you are unwilling,

         15  collectively, not you individually, to fully

         16  cooperate. You don't send both agencies, you try to

         17  suggest that you can't answer budget questions,

         18  although we asked you at the beginning in our

         19  request to you to be prepped for that. You try to

         20  split hairs, you try to answer as little as

         21  possible, to provide as little information. We send

         22  letters, we get minimal responses or we get no

         23  responses. In general this is absolutely true.

         24                 Now, that increases the frustration

         25  level. ACD, for example, does a kind of generalized
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          2  needs assessment throughout the City because they

          3  have licensed regulated care and some other

          4  facilities. You don't because you have OES. You have

          5  the folks who come to you who are on welfare who you

          6  now require to come in and you kind of just respond.

          7  But, you know, if the other person was there that

          8  could have been part of the answer to the Council

          9  member.

         10                 A few minutes ago when I was called

         11  away, I was informed by my staff who sits for the

         12  entire hearing of one exchange that went on. You

         13  know, the Speaker of the City Council, Peter

         14  Vallone, and all the members made a commitment to

         15  add $18 million originally, hoping the State and

         16  feds would match it for new day care, expansion of

         17  day care. The number of kids that we could help

         18  would go up. For a whole series of budgetary

         19  reasons, other programs, you know, didn't do what

         20  they were going to do, there was a budget delay, we

         21  skip all that history, the bottom line is on the

         22  agreed upon budget some $13 million is placed in it.

         23  And you vaguely answer the members of this Committee

         24  that in fact you are going to spend that $13 million

         25  to cover the cost of a one-shot voucher program that
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          2  the feds paid for once, that you didn't put up the

          3  money for to continue, but you are going to use our

          4  money with no net increase in the amount of day

          5  care.

          6                 Now, what gives you the right to do

          7  that and not expect people to go ballistic? I mean,

          8  that is $13 million out of the 18 that the Speaker

          9  spearheaded that is supposed to expand day care. I

         10  mean, you are stealing the money, I don't mean

         11  literally stealing it in the figurative sense, I

         12  will use a better word, robbing the money from Peter

         13  to pay -- Peter literally -- to pay Paul, as the

         14  cliche goes. How can you do that? And how can you

         15  testify vaguely to that and not step up and answer

         16  that question?

         17                 MS. ABADESSA: I would probably look

         18  at it differently.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What's that?

         20                 MS. ABADESSA: I wouldn't quite see it

         21  as robbing. I think what has enabled the City to do,

         22  and which I think was commendable of the Council was

         23  to enable this City to continue with those vouchers

         24  that were in fact given.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Excuse me. Let
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          2  me just respectfully interrupt you.

          3                 That program that you believed in you

          4  should have funded. We gave you $13 million to

          5  expand day care. That is what the Speaker did. That

          6  is what members did throughout the City, say to

          7  folks, we are trying to expand day care and we will

          8  put up $13 million to do it.

          9                 And you decide, we will use your

         10  money, which is earmarked as clear as could be, to

         11  expand, to pay for something we might lose, because

         12  we don't want to pay for it ourselves but we love

         13  it. Who works like that?

         14                 And by the way, you are entitled to

         15  work like that because you are an agency, but you

         16  work like that and then not expect people to be

         17  upset? That is what causes the problem.

         18                 Why do you think people leave here

         19  believing that you are not committed to expanding

         20  day care but rather robbing one to pay the next, not

         21  committed to licensed, regulated, you know,

         22  historically day care, but rather dismantling the

         23  system? Why do you think people leave here believing

         24  you force everyone, either directly or indirectly,

         25  read the Green Report and others, not just the
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          2  anecdotal evidence, you force people to take

          3  informal care? I mean, that is why.

          4                 Not because we just disagree for the

          5  sake of disagreeing. You cause many of your own

          6  problems.

          7                 I will tell you this, discussion and

          8  debate, if it is meaningful, could lead to

          9  solutions. But when you present yourselves as it is

         10  our way and our way is the only way, which is the

         11  Hallmark of this Administration, it leads to

         12  conflict. And that is why these hearings take the

         13  turn they take.

         14                 Let me ask you if in fact that is

         15  what you are spending the 13 plus million dollars

         16  on. To pay for the voucher program, that that was a

         17  one-year voucher program that you want to continue;

         18  yes or no?

         19                 MS. ABADESSA: That is my

         20  understanding. And it expands it to an additional

         21  500 vouchers.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And do you

         23  understand that we put in $13 million to expand

         24  from, not cover your gap but expand completely above

         25  and beyond what you did last year; do you understand
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          2  that was our intent?

          3                 MS. ABADESSA: No, I did not know

          4  that. That wasn't, obviously I am speaking for ACD

          5  and obviously I am from HRA, so I would have no way

          6  of knowing what your intent was.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA; well, maybe

          8  you should read the terms and conditions and read

          9  the budget, listen to the Speaker when he makes the

         10  pronouncement. There is a $13 million enhancement,

         11  net enhancement to day care, and you didn't have the

         12  luxury of taking the money and filling one of your

         13  budget gaps.

         14                 And then as pointed out by support

         15  staff who does a lot of the technical research here,

         16  you know, your budget went up by millions of dollars

         17  at OES. You had to worry about filling the hole for

         18  the voucher program, why don't you use some of your

         19  money?

         20                 MS. ABADESSA: Last year we spent

         21  essentially the full complement of our money, the

         22  full 56 million, and then we plan on spending or

         23  anticipate spending the full complement of our

         24  dollars this year.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: But you could
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          2  take the $13 million that we put into it to expand

          3  to fill the gap. It is just not good policy.

          4                 In any event, I don't have any other

          5  questions, I know the Council Members have some to

          6  finish the hearing. I just think that you create

          7  more problems than you solve by the way you view

          8  your role as it relates to this Council in general

          9  and this Committee in particular. In a democracy,

         10  you know, where give and take is necessary, the

         11  debate is necessary, I have said this to other

         12  folks, if you believe in what you do, then you

         13  should be the first to answer all the questions,

         14  defend and debate it, but you want to have it your

         15  way and not share information and that is what is

         16  frustration.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Let me just

         18  in conclusion I have a few questions.

         19                 But in the Mayor's State of the City

         20  Address, he said he is shifting the voucher program

         21  from ACD to OES; that's right?

         22                 MS. HENDON: We read that, yes.

         23                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So, how then

         24  are you going to provide for any new needs for low

         25  income-working families?
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          2                 MS. HENDON: I don't know what the

          3  Mayor's full intent was in that statement. It is not

          4  --

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Or existing

          6  needs. Existing needs.

          7                 MS. HENDON: It is not clear to us

          8  what will actually happen yet.

          9                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That's a

         10  little difficult. That then coupled with the fact

         11  that you can say that there isn't a shortage of

         12  child care because you are going to embark on

         13  expanding the informal day care, right?

         14                 MS. HENDON: I didn't say that at all.

         15  And in fact, under the things that we are proposing,

         16  I would expect the number of informal providers to

         17  go down, and the use of informal providers to go

         18  down.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And so they

         20  are going to go into these 4,000 slots that you have

         21  identified in expansion of family day care?

         22                 MS. HENDON: And they will go into

         23  vacancies in ACD facilities where there are some and

         24  there are, as you know, many, many child care

         25  centers that are not ACD child care centers, if we
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          2  need to create additional capacity we will have to

          3  do that.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Are you

          5  going to give us a list of those child care centers,

          6  child care centers that have waiting lists? I would

          7  appreciate it if you would provide us with that.

          8                 Can you tell me how many staff

          9  members are currently employed by HRA within the

         10  area of child care?

         11                 MS. HENDON: One-hundred and

         12  forty-four.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Pardon me?

         14                 MS. HENDON: One-hundred and

         15  forty-four.

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And what is

         17  ACD's numbers?

         18                 MS. HENDON: I don't have ACD's

         19  numbers.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Wait, she

         22  might have them. No?

         23                 MS. ABADESSA: I can give you a dollar

         24  value, I cannot give you the --

         25                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right,
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          2  give me the dollar value. Maybe you can get it for

          3  us, since ACD doesn't seem to be talking to us?

          4                 MS. ABADESSA: It is about $14

          5  million.

          6                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: $14 million

          7  from ACD? And what is the dollar value at HRA?

          8                 MS. ABADESSA: I have to calculate it.

          9                 Approximately $4.3 million gross.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Thank you.

         11                 So, just to go back to the one final

         12  thing. Your 144 HRA employees for child care, those

         13  are the people who are in the Job Centers also? That

         14  includes the people in Job Centers?

         15                 MS. HENDON: Yes. In fact, we have

         16  some child care specialists in job centers.

         17                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Do you, and

         18  every Job Center now has a child care specialist?

         19                 MS. HENDON: Nine of them do.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And does the

         21  child care specialist sit down with the recipient

         22  and see what the child care needs are?

         23                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: So they do a

         25  needs assessment.
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          2                 MS. HENDON: If that is the sort of

          3  needs assessment you mean, yes, they do that.

          4                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: That may be

          5  what Council Member Lopez was talking about.

          6                 MS. HENDON: They also do that in

          7  BEGIN centers, by the way. And I have been there and

          8  observed them calling child care centers, putting

          9  parents on the phone with them.

         10                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You have

         11  been to the Job Centers also?

         12                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

         13                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And are you

         14  satisfied with the performance?

         15                 MS. HENDON: It appears to be very

         16  good. The people who are the child care specialists

         17  have a very hands-on working knowledge of the

         18  centers and the registered family child care in the

         19  neighborhood.

         20                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: You weren't

         21  here when Legal Aid testified. And do you have any

         22  written material that is handed, or is there a

         23  script for the child care specialist? Who informs

         24  the recipient about her rights with children, about

         25  what age and also of the two referrals? Is that
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          2  written?

          3                 MS. HENDON: There are written

          4  procedures for BEGIN centers and for Job Centers.

          5                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Could we

          6  please have copies of those procedures?

          7                 MS. HENDON: Yes.

          8                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: All right.

          9                 And do you do any inspections? Who

         10  supervises to see that those scripts are followed?

         11                 MS. HENDON: Well, they are supervised

         12  by the site manager or the Job Center Director,

         13  first of all, and we also have a regional and

         14  central operation.

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: I would like

         16  to give you the written testimony by Brooklyn Legal

         17  Services and the Welfare Law Center, because I think

         18  it would be interesting to try to reconcile the two

         19  different views.

         20                 MS. HENDON: It would be very helpful.

         21                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And it would

         22  be helpful to us to have that. And I hope that you

         23  will give us the information from ACD and I regret

         24  that ACD was not here and I can't help but feel that

         25  we can only infer from this that our policy from now
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          2  on and the rest of this administration is going to

          3  be that child care is directed to reducing the

          4  welfare rolls and not to assisting.

          5                 I still have not, we have not been

          6  fully able to explain the rolls and the differences

          7  and until that is fully understandable to people, we

          8  are going to have to assume that our worst fears are

          9  being realized.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         11                 MS. ABADESSA: I just want to ask if

         12  there are any budget questions maybe you feel were

         13  not adequately answered? Maybe I could possibly

         14  answer them now, if I can?

         15                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Well, we

         16  have to go through the letters and we have to look

         17  at the testimony, because you did answer some of the

         18  questions in the testimony. So then we will extract

         19  those questions that are still not answered and we

         20  will send -- can we send a letter to you directly?

         21  Will you be able to see it?

         22                 MS. ABADESSA: I will see it. Yes, I

         23  could see it, but I will have to work with our --

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Explain to

         25  us how our responses are responded -- how our
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          2  letters get responded to? What is the procedure?

          3                 MS. ABADESSA: I don't know if there

          4  is an official procedure, but it is like any normal,

          5  and actually you may want to speak to it, but it is

          6  like any normal organization where you have staff

          7  who take the first cut, they do a draft response and

          8  then it has to go through a series of reviews, and

          9  then there is a document that HRA, and depends on

         10  ACS, if it is child care, we will look at, we go

         11  back and forth and we discuss issues, make sure it

         12  is accurate, it is clear, thoroughly answers the

         13  question and then it goes to our legislative office,

         14  who works with City Hall's legislative office, and

         15  then once approval is received it would be forwarded

         16  to you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you for

         18  that.

         19                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: And how

         20  rapidly do you do that?

         21                 MS. ABADESSA: I guess if it is budget

         22  season it could take a little longer, but normally

         23  it is -- it takes awhile honestly. It takes awhile.

         24                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: We can tell

         25  that. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you. The

          3  remarks before, let me just keep the record clear

          4  about the overall position and lack of cooperation,

          5  et cetera, of the Administration, actually exclusive

          6  of you, every time you have appeared, you have had

          7  your books with you and you have been able to answer

          8  or try to answer every question asked and I want the

          9  record to be clear that the remarks do not apply to

         10  you.

         11                 Virtually everyone else who has

         12  appeared in a policy-making role, in a commissioner

         13  level role, et cetera, has tended to, you know, I

         14  think have some more restraints, but your answers

         15  have been --

         16                 CO-CHAIRPERSON ELDRIDGE: Don't be too

         17  nice because you will get her in trouble.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Oh, I am

         19  sorry. I am sorry.

         20                 We are going to adjourn this joint

         21  meeting. We are going to review the record, the

         22  testimony, the documents and the outstanding

         23  requests. We are going to try to make a narrow sense

         24  of it, and when we send you both the request letter

         25  for the things we asked and you indicated could be
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          2  sent, and/or any of the missing information from the

          3  last series of letters, but the goal is clear, we

          4  are trying to understand how we are going to service

          5  two very needy but yet different populations, and

          6  truly expand rather than internally shift the day

          7  care dollars.

          8                 Thank you.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 2:45 p.m.)
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